ENPRO INDUSTRIES, INC Form DEF 14A March 20, 2019 SCHEDULE 14A
(Rule 14a-101)
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT
SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION
Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )
Filed by the Registrant
Filed by a Party other than the Registrant
Check the appropriate box:
Preliminary Proxy Statement
Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
Definitive Proxy Statement
Definitive Additional Materials
Soliciting Material under Rule 14a-12
EnPro Industries, Inc.
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)
(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
No fee required.

Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1)Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
(2)Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
(3)Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 011 (set forth th amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4)Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
(5)Total fee paid:
Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1)Amount Previously Paid:
(2)Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3)Filing Party:
(4)Date Filed:

EnPro Industries, Inc. 2019 Annual Meeting

**Engineered for Performance** 

Proxy Statement and Notice of 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders i

# **Annual Meeting of Shareholders**

The 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of EnPro Industries, Inc. will be held at:
Charlotte Marriott City Center
100 West Trade Street, Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
Monday, April 29, 2019 at 5:00 p.m.

# **Proxy voting options**

## Your vote is important!

Whether or not you expect to attend our shareholder's meeting, we urge you to vote your shares. You may vote by phone, via the Internet, or by signing, dating, and returning the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form at your earliest convenience. Your prompt vote will ensure the presence of a quorum at the meeting and will save us the expense and extra work of additional solicitation. If you vote now and later decide to change your vote or to vote your shares at the meeting, you may do so by following instructions found elsewhere in this proxy statement. Your vote by proxy is revocable at your option any time prior to the meeting.

The fastest and most convenient way to vote your shares is by the Internet or telephone, using the instructions on this page. Internet and telephone votes are immediately confirmed and tabulated, and reduce postage and proxy tabulation costs.

If you prefer to vote by mail, please return the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form in the addressed, prepaid envelope we have provided. Do not return the paper ballot if you vote via the Internet or by telephone.

## **Vote by Internet**

#### www.proxyvote.com

Internet voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

# **Instructions:**

- 1.Read our Proxy Statement.
- 2.Go to the following website: **www.proxyvote.com**
- 3.Have your proxy card or voting instruction form in hand and follow the instructions. You can also register to receive all future shareholder communications electronically, instead of in print. Our annual report, Proxy Statement, and other correspondence will be delivered to you via e-mail if you elect this option.

## Vote by telephone

## 1-800-690-6903 via touch tone phone

Telephonic voting is available toll-free 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

## **Instructions:**

- 1.Read our Proxy Statement.
- 2.Call toll-free 1-800-690-6903.
- 3. Have your proxy card or voting instruction form in hand and follow the instructions.

# ii

# Table of Contents

Letter from our President and Chief Executive Officer	111	
Notice of 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders	iv	
<u>Proxy Statement</u>	1	
Proxy statement summary	1	
<u>General information</u>	6	
Beneficial ownership of our common stock	9	
Beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock	9	
Director and executive officer ownership of our common stock	10	
Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance	11	
<u>Proposal 1—Election of directors</u>	12	
Nominees for election	13	
Board leadership structure	18	
<u>Committee structure</u>	18	
Risk Oversight	19	
Meetings and attendance	19	
Corporate governance policies and practices	19	
Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct	19	
<u>Director independence</u>	20	
Board, committee and director evaluations	20	
Audit committee financial expert	21	
Director candidate qualifications	21	
Nomination process	21	
Communications with the board	22	
Director compensation	23	
Audit Committee report		25
Compensation and Human Resources Committee report on exe	cutive compensation	26
Compensation discussion and analysis		27
Summary of business highlights		29
Shareholder engagement		29
Compensation practices		30
Compensation program design		30
Compensation analysis		32
Changes to compensation program for 2019		38
Executive compensation		39
Summary compensation table		39
Employment agreement		41

Grants of plan-based awards	42
Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end	44
Option exercises and stock vested	45
Pension benefits	45
Non-qualified deferred compensation	46
Potential payments upon termination or change in control	48
CEO pay ratio	51
Proposal 2—Advisory vote approving executive compensation	52
<u>Proposal 3—Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our company's independent registered public accounting firm for 2019</u>	54
Independent registered public accounting firm	54
Other matters	55
Shareholder proposals	55

iii

5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500 Charlotte, North Carolina 28209

#### Letter from our President and Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholder:

On behalf of the board of directors and management of EnPro Industries, Inc., I invite you to our annual meeting of shareholders. It will be held at the Charlotte Marriott City Center, which is located at 100 West Trade Street, Charlotte, North Carolina, on Monday, April 29, 2019 at 5:00 p.m.

This year, our shareholders will be asked to:

- •Elect as directors the ten nominees whose qualifications and experience are described in our proxy statement.
- •Approve on an advisory basis the compensation paid to our named executive officers as disclosed in our proxy statement.
- •Ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019.
- •Consider any other business that properly comes before the meeting or any adjournment of the meeting.

The business of the meeting, including each of the three proposals you are being asked to vote on, is described in detail in the attached Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement which follows.

Whether or not you attend the annual meeting, it is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting. Please vote promptly. You may submit your proxy via the Internet, by phone, or by signing, dating, and returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed envelope. If you attend the annual meeting, you will be able to vote in person, even if you have previously submitted your proxy.

Sincerely,

Stephen E. Macadam
President and Chief Executive Officer

March 20, 2019

iv

5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500 Charlotte, North Carolina 28209

## **Notice of 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders**

**Date:** April 29, 2019

**Time:** 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time

Place: Charlotte Marriott City Center, 100 West Trade Street, Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

**Record** March 7, 2019. Only shareholders of record at the close of business on the record date are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the annual meeting.

**Important.** Please vote your shares at your earliest convenience. This will ensure the presence of a quorum at the meeting. Promptly voting your shares via the Internet, by telephone, or by signing, dating, and returning the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form will save the expenses and extra work of additional proxy solicitation. If you wish to vote by mail, we have enclosed an addressed envelope,

postage prepaid if mailed in the United States. Submitting your proxy now will not prevent you from

voting your shares at the meeting. Your proxy is revocable at your option.

•To elect ten directors from the nominees described in the accompanying proxy statement

•To adopt a resolution approving, on an advisory basis, the compensation paid to our named executive officers as disclosed in the accompanying proxy statement

Items of business:

**Proxy** 

voting:

•To ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019

•To transact other business that may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment of the meeting

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON APRIL 29, 2019: The proxy statement and 2018 annual report to shareholders are available at: https://www.enproindustries.com/shareholder-meeting.

# By Order of the Board of Directors,

Robert S. McLean Secretary

March 20, 2019

1

EnPro Industries, Inc. 2019 Proxy Statement

Proxy statement summary

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in our proxy statement. Because the summary does not contain all of the information you should consider, you should read the entire proxy statement carefully before voting.

# Annual meeting of shareholders

#### Time, place and voting matters

**Date**: April 29, 2019

Time: 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time

**Place**:Charlotte Marriott City Center 100 West Trade Street Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

Record date: March 7, 2019

**Voting:**Shareholders as of the record date are entitled to vote. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote for each director nominee and one vote for each of the proposals to be voted on.

## Meeting agenda

- •Election of ten directors
- •Advisory vote to approve executive compensation
- •Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019
- •Transact other business that may properly come before the meeting

#### How to vote

See "General information—How do I vote?" (page 6) for more information.

In addition to attending the annual meeting, shareholders of record can vote by any of the following methods:

By Internet By telephone By mailing your

# at www.proxyvote.com at 1-800-690-6903 proxy card

If you hold your EnPro shares in street name through an account with a bank, broker or other nominee, your ability to vote by Internet or telephone depends on the voting process of the bank, broker or other nominee through which you hold the shares. Please follow their directions carefully.

# **Voting recommendations**

Proposal	Board vote recommendation
Election of directors (see page 12)	"For" each director nominee
Advisory vote to approve executive compensation (see page 52)	"For"
Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019 (see page 54)	"For"

## **Our director nominees**

See "Proposal 1—Election of directors" (page 12) and "Corporate governance policies and practices" (page 19) for more information.

The board of directors recommends that you vote "For" each nominee listed in the table below, which provides summary information about each nominee. A full description of each nominee's skills and qualifications begins on page 13. Each director is elected annually.

	Director						<b>Committee memberships</b>			
Name	Age	since	Occupation	Independer	Independent	public boards	AC	CC	NC	EC
Stephen E. Macadam	58	2008	President and Chief Executive Officer, EnPro		No	2				C
Marvin A. Riley	44	N/A	Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, EnPro	)	No	1				
Thomas M. Botts	64	2012	Retired Executive VP, Global Manufacturing, Shell Downstre Inc.	eam	Yes	1	M	C	M	M
Felix M. Brueck	63	2014	Director Emeritus, McKinsey & Company, Inc.	ž	Yes	_	M	M	M	
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.	70	2011	Former Managing Director, McGuire Woods Capital Group	Former Managing Director, McGuire Woods Capital Group  Yes		_	C	M	M	M
Diane C. Cree	1 70	2009	Retired Chairman, CEO and President, Ecovation, Inc.		Yes	2	M	M	M	
Adele M. Gulfo	56	2018	Chief of Commercial Development, Roivant Science Ltd.	S	Yes	1	M	M	M	
David L. Hauser*	67	2007	Former Chairman and CEO, FairPoint Communications		Yes	1	M	M	C	M
John Humphrey	53	2015	Former Executive Vice Preside and Chief Financial Officer of Roper Technologies, Inc.	nt	Yes	2	M,F	M	M	
Kees van der Graaf	68	2012	Former member of the board at executive committee, Unilever and Unilever PLC		Yes	2	M	M	M	
AC —Audit	and	Risk Manag	gement Committee	C	—Committee	Chair				
CC —Compensation and Human Resources Committee M		M	—Member							
NC —Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee			F	—Financial e	xpert					
EC —Exec	utive	Committee		*	Chairman o	of the Bo	ard of			

Our nominees' experience and qualifications

Our board of directors and its Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee believe broad and diverse experience and varying lengths of tenure are critical elements of a highly functioning board. The board's experience enables it to make sound decisions that

support shareholder value, while the varying tenures of its members provide a balance of institutional knowledge and fresh perspectives. The following charts reflect the tenure of our current directors and the experience and qualifications of the nominees for election as directors.

#### **Director Nominee Experience and Qualifications**

Experience/Qualifications Botts Brueck Burns Creel Gulfo Hauser Humphrey Macadam Riley van der Graaf

Finance/Accounting
Government/Regulatory
Legal/Corporate Governance
Human
Resources/Compensation
International Experience
M&A/Business Development
Manufacturing/Operations
Sales/Marketing
Strategic Planning
Technical Innovation/Product
Development
Corporate governance matters

Our board of directors and management firmly embrace good and accountable corporate governance. We believe an attentive board, held to the highest standards of corporate governance, is a tangible advantage for our shareholders and for our businesses. Our board makes substantial efforts to meet such standards.

*Board refreshment balances experience with fresh insights.* We seek to balance directors who know and understand our company with those who bring fresh perspectives to governance and management and to expand the diversity of our board. The range of tenure of our independent directors is five months to 12 years.

We elect all directors annually to one-year terms. Annual elections allow shareholders to review each director's skills and experience and approve his or her nomination at each annual meeting.

Our directors must be elected by majority vote. Any nominee in an uncontested election who receives more "withhold" votes than votes "for" must promptly offer his or her resignation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider the resignation and recommend either accepting it or rejecting it to the board, which will act within 90 days after the shareholders' meeting. The resigning director will not participate in these discussions.

*The chairman of our board of directors is independent*. The position of Chairman of the Board of Directors at EnPro is a non-executive position. Independent directors have held this position since the inception of our company in 2002. Since the Chairman of the Board is independent, he functionally serves as our lead independent director.

Our independent directors meet regularly in executive session. Our non-management directors meet regularly without members of management present. These sessions are presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Our directors are required to own our company's stock. Our directors are required to own shares in our company equal in value to five times the annual cash retainer they receive. New directors have five years from the time they join the board to accumulate these shares. All of the directors meet this requirement.

The board and each committee perform comprehensive annual evaluations. Evaluations allow our directors to assess their effectiveness at both the committee and the board level and include an individual director assessment component to permit each director to evaluate the contributions of each of the other directors.

## **Executive compensation**

For more information, see "Compensation discussion and analysis," (page 27) "Executive compensation" (page 39) and "Proposal 2—Advisory vote approving executive compensation" (page 52).

Our board of directors recommends that you vote "For" our advisory proposal on executive compensation. The non-binding, advisory vote gives our shareholders the opportunity to approve the compensation paid to individuals identified as named executive officers in this proxy statement.

#### Our compensation practices

#### Our programs are designed to reward success

Our compensation programs enable us to align the interests of our executive officers with the interests of our shareholders and to reward our executives for superior performance. This practice allows us to attract and retain talented and highly motivated executive officers who are capable of driving our success and building value for our shareholders.

Our executive officers' compensation:

- •Is tied to business performance—disappointing performance results in little or no payout while superior performance leads to superior payouts;
- •Is significantly stock-based;
- •Vests over several years;
- •Is linked to execution of our corporate strategies;
- •Encourages sound decisions that lead to long-term success and avoid unnecessary or excessive risk; and
- •Allows our executives the opportunity to earn competitive total pay.

In structuring annual and long-term incentive compensation opportunities, we select performance measures that we believe significantly drive the value of our company. We make annual awards of restricted stock units which vest after three years, both to encourage retention and to provide an incentive for performance to increase the value of our shares.

We have structured our compensation programs to align with the interests of our shareholders and results in payment based on our performance.

## We routinely engage with our shareholders to discuss any concerns about our compensation programs

Through the course of each year, we speak with numerous shareholders, including frequent conversations with many of our largest shareholders. We cover a wide range of topics in these discussions, including executive compensation. In these conversations, our shareholders generally support our pay practices and strategic direction. We take their views into account as we seek to align our policies and practices with their interests.

# We employ best practices in executive compensation

- •We balance short-term and long-term compensation to discourage short-term risk-taking at the expense of long-term results.
- We align the interests of our executive officers with the interests of our shareholders. We require our officers to own and retain meaningful amounts of EnPro stock and to increase their ownership as their levels of responsibility increase.
- •Our Compensation and Human Resources Committee relies on an independent executive compensation consultant to evaluate our compensation plans. The consultant reports directly to the committee and provides no other services to our company.
- •We have limited perquisites.
- •We generally make compensation decisions and grant equity and other compensation awards only on an annual basis, with interim adjustments and awards only in unusual circumstances, such as in connection with a material change in an executive officer's responsibilities.
- •Our policies prohibit executives from hedging ownership of EnPro stock and limit executives in pledging EnPro stock.
- •Our clawback policy entitles us to recover performance-based compensation from any executive officer whose fraud or willful misconduct requires a material restatement of our financial results.

## **Compensation analysis**

Our compensation program ties incentive compensation pay to the achievement of both annual and long-term goals for the performance of our company. We set these goals each year and tie both annual and three-year incentive awards to achieving them. We make little or no incentive compensation payment for poor performance against our goals, but our executives can earn significant payment relative to their salary levels for superior performance against them.

Our 2018 performance, based on adjusted EBITDA and adjusted return on invested capital, improved from the prior year despite our experiencing, and addressing, challenges in our heavy-duty trucks business in 2018, and our 2018 annual incentive compensation reflected achievement at 109.6% of the target level. The payouts on our long-term incentive equity awards for the 2016-2018 performance cycle, which are based on our relative total shareholder return, reflected achievement at 142.8% of the target level, reflecting the relative improvement of our share price during that period due in part to the successful resolution of the asbestos claims resolution process of certain of our subsidiaries during that period. Our adjusted return on invested capital for that same three-year period was below our expectations due to unanticipated headwinds early in the period, and accordingly our long-term incentive cash awards paid out based on achievement of only 90.0% of the target level.

We believe our compensation structure aligns with the interests of our shareholders and resulted in payment commensurate with our performance.

# **Auditors**

See "Proposal 3—Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our company's independent registered public accounting firm for 2019" and "Independent registered public accounting firm" (page 54) for more information.

We ask our shareholders to ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019. The information below summarizes PricewaterhouseCoopers' fees for services provided for calendar years 2018 and 2017.

Year ended December 31	2018	2017
Audit fees	\$2,342,500	\$2,394,900
Audit-related fees	37,900	60,600
Tax fees	_	_
All other fees	2,900	2,900
Total	\$2,383,300	\$2,458,400

#### General information

The enclosed proxy is solicited on behalf of the board of directors of EnPro Industries, Inc., in connection with our 2019 annual meeting of shareholders. The meeting will be held on Monday, April 29, 2019, at 5:00 p.m. at the Charlotte Marriott City Center, which is located at 100 West Trade Street, Charlotte, North Carolina. You may use the enclosed proxy card to vote your shares whether or not you attend the meeting. Please vote by following the instructions on the card.

Because your vote is very important, we encourage you to cast it promptly by telephone or over the Internet, or by dating, signing and returning your proxy card in the enclosed envelope. Submitting your proxy in any of these manners means your shares of our common stock will be voted as you specify by the individuals named on the proxy card.

This proxy statement contains important information for you to consider when deciding how to vote on the matters brought before the meeting. Please read it carefully.

We are mailing our 2018 annual report, including financial statements, with this proxy statement to all shareholders who hold shares directly in their own names. We will begin mailing materials to these registered shareholders on or around March 20, 2019. If you are a beneficial owner whose shares are held in street name in an account at a bank, securities broker or other nominee, you should receive the annual report, proxy statement and a proxy card directly from the nominee.

Any shareholder may request additional copies of these materials from our shareholder relations department, which can be reached via email at *investor@enproindustries.com* or by calling 704-731-1522.

#### What is the purpose of the annual meeting?

At our annual meeting, shareholders will act on the following proposals:

- •Election of ten directors;
- •Adoption of an advisory resolution approving the compensation paid to our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement; and
- •Ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019.

Our board of directors has submitted these proposals. We are not aware of any other business to be addressed at the meeting; however, other business may be addressed if it properly comes before the meeting.

#### Who is entitled to vote at the meeting?

You may vote if you owned EnPro common stock as of the close of business on the record date, March 7, 2019. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter considered at the meeting. At the close of

business on the record date, 20,822,741 shares of EnPro common stock were outstanding and eligible to vote. The amount does not include 188,761 shares held by an EnPro subsidiary.

#### Who may attend the meeting?

Holders of EnPro common stock whose shares are recorded directly in their names in our stock register ("shareholders of record") at the close of business on March 7, 2019 may attend the meeting. In addition, shareholders who hold shares of our common stock in "street name," that is, through an account with a broker, bank, trustee, or other holder of record, as of such date may attend the meeting by presenting satisfactory evidence of ownership as of the March 7, 2019 record date. Our invited guests may also attend the meeting.

#### How do I vote?

Shareholders of record: Shareholders of record have four voting options:

- •over the Internet at the internet address shown on the enclosed proxy card;
- •by telephone through the number shown on the enclosed proxy card;
- •by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card by mail; or
- •in person at the meeting.

Even if you plan to attend the meeting, we encourage you to vote your shares by submitting your proxy. If you choose to vote your shares at the meeting, please bring proof of stock ownership and proof of your identity for entrance to the meeting.

Shareholders owning shares in street name: If you hold your EnPro shares in street name, your ability to vote by Internet or telephone depends on the voting process of the bank, broker or other nominee through which you hold the shares. Please follow their directions carefully. If you want to vote at the meeting, you must request a legal proxy appointment from your bank, broker or other nominee and present that legal proxy appointment, together with proof of your identity, to company officials as you attend the meeting.

## Every vote is important! Please vote your shares promptly.

## How do I vote my 401(k) shares?

If you hold EnPro shares in the company's 401(k) plan, the plan's trustee will vote your shares according to the instructions you provide when you complete and submit the proxy instructions you receive from the plan manager.

If you hold EnPro shares in an EnPro 401(k) plan and are also a shareholder of record with shares in a registered account outside the plan, and if your plan information

matches the information we have on your registered account, you will receive one proxy card representing all shares you own.

If you hold EnPro shares outside the plan in street name, or if your registered account information is different from your plan account information, you will receive separate proxies, one for shares you hold in the plan and one for shares you hold outside the plan.

## What can I do if I change my mind after I vote my shares?

Even if you have submitted your vote, you may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before voting begins at the annual meeting.

Shareholders of record: Shareholders of record may change their votes in one of two ways:

- •by voting on a later date by telephone or over the Internet (only your last dated proxy card or telephone or Internet vote is counted); or
- •by delivering a later dated proxy card to our Secretary, either prior to or at the meeting; or by voting your shares in person at the meeting. In order to vote your shares at the meeting, you must specifically revoke a previously submitted proxy.

*Shareholders owning shares in street name:* If you hold your shares in street name, you should contact your bank, broker or other nominee to find out how to revoke your proxy.

## Is there a minimum quorum necessary to hold the meeting?

A quorum is established when the majority of EnPro shares entitled to vote are present at the meeting in person or by proxy. Abstentions and broker "non-votes" are counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of establishing a quorum. If you return valid proxy instructions or vote in person at the meeting, you will be considered part of the quorum.

#### How will my vote be counted?

If you return your proxy card with specific voting instructions or submit your proxy by telephone or the Internet, your EnPro shares will be voted as you have instructed.

If you are a shareholder of record and submit a proxy by mail, telephone or the Internet without specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted according to our board of directors' recommendations. If you do not submit valid proxy instructions or vote in person at the meeting, your shares will not be voted.

If you hold your shares in street name and do not give your bank, broker or other nominee instructions for voting your shares, your shares will be considered to be "uninstructed." Your nominee generally has the authority to vote "uninstructed" shares at its discretion only on matters that are "routine" under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). For our 2019 meeting, only the ratification of our independent accounting firm (Proposal 3) is considered routine by the NYSE. The election of directors

and matters related to executive compensation are not considered routine. Without your instruction, your shares will not be voted in these matters (Proposals 1 and 2).

## What vote is required to approve each item?

*Proposal 1: Election of directors*. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast in person or by proxy at the meeting. "Plurality" means that the director nominees who receive the largest number of votes cast are elected, up to the ten directors to be elected at the meeting. Un-voted shares will have no impact on the election of directors. Unless a proxy includes proper instructions to "Withhold" a vote for any or all nominees, the proxy will be voted "For" each of the nominees.

In an uncontested election, any nominee who receives more "Withhold" votes than votes "For" must promptly offer his or her resignation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will review the resignation and recommend a course of action to the board. The full board, excluding the resigning director, will act within 90 days after the shareholders meeting to accept or reject the resignation. The board's decision and an explanation of the process used to reach it will be disclosed publicly on Form 8-K.

*Proposal 2: Advisory vote to approve executive compensation.* The advisory resolution to approve the compensation paid to our named executive officers will be approved if more votes are cast "For" the resolution than are cast "Against" it. Although this advisory vote is not binding under applicable law, our board will review the results and take them, and the views expressed by our shareholders, into account in determining our executive compensation practices.

Proposal 3: Ratification of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019. The ratification of the appointment of our independent accounting firm will be approved if more votes are cast "For" the proposal than are cast "Against" it.

*Other business*. Any other business that properly comes before the meeting, or any adjournment of the meeting, will be approved if more votes are cast "For" the proposal than "Against" the proposal.

#### How do broker non-votes and abstentions count for voting purposes?

"Broker non-votes" arise when shareholders who hold shares in street name do not give their banks, brokers or other nominees instructions for voting their shares and the banks, brokers or other nominees do not have authority to vote the shares on a matter because the matter is not routine. Abstentions and broker non-votes will count for determining whether a quorum is present for the meeting. Because directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast, broker non-votes and abstentions will not count in determining the outcome of the election of directors. For all other proposals on the agenda for the annual meeting and with respect to any other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment of the meeting, only

votes "For" or "Against" the proposal count—accordingly, broker non-votes, if any, and abstentions will not be counted in determining the outcome of the votes on those proposals.

## Is there a list of shareholders of record entitled to vote at the annual meeting?

You may examine a list of the shareholders of record entitled to vote at the annual meeting. The list will be available at our offices at 5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500, Charlotte, North Carolina, from March 20, 2019 through the end of the meeting and will also be available at the location of the annual meeting during the annual meeting.

#### What are the board's recommendations?

Your board of directors recommends that you vote:

- •"FOR" each of our nominees to the board of directors;
- •"FOR" the advisory resolution approving the compensation paid to our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement; and
- •"FOR" ratifying PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2019.

If you return a valid proxy card or respond to our proxy by telephone or Internet and do not include instructions on how you want to vote, your shares will be voted in accordance with the board's recommendations.

## How can I find out the results of the vote?

We will publish final voting results in a report on Form 8-K to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") within four business days after the meeting. We will also post the voting results on our website, www.enproindustries.com.

# What is "householding" and how does it affect me?

When two or more shareholders are in the same household and receive mail at the same address, rules adopted by the SEC allow us to deliver only one proxy statement and annual report to that address, reducing our cost for preparing and delivering proxy materials. If you fall into this category and would like separate mailings of our proxy statement and annual report, you may request them at no cost to you by contacting us at *investor@enproindustries.com* or by calling 704-731-1522. Registered shareholders who would like separate mailings in the future (or who would like to consolidate future mailings) may request them using the contact information above. Investors whose shares are held in street name by a bank, broker or other nominee should request separate mailings (or consolidation of mailings) from the nominee.

#### Can I access these proxy materials on the Internet?

This proxy statement and our 2018 annual report to shareholders, which includes our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, are available at https://www.enproindustries.com/shareholder-meeting.

Shareholders of record whose shares are held directly in their names in our stock register can choose to receive these documents over the Internet in the future by accessing www.proxyvote.com and following the instructions provided on

that website. Choosing to receive your materials over the Internet gives you full access to all materials and saves us printing and mailing expenses. If you make this choice, you will receive an email prior to next year's meeting notifying you that our proxy materials and annual report are available for online review. The email will also include instructions for electronic voting. Should you desire to end electronic delivery and again receive paper copies of the materials, please notify us by letter to 5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500, Charlotte, North Carolina 28209, Attention: Shareholder Relations.

Shareholders who hold their shares in street name should request instructions for receiving future proxy statements and annual reports over the Internet from their bank, broker or other nominee.

## Who will solicit votes and pay for the costs of this proxy solicitation?

We will pay the costs of the solicitation. Although our officers, directors and employees may personally solicit proxies, they will not receive any additional compensation for doing so. We may also solicit proxies by issuing press releases, posting information on our website, *www.enproindustries.com*, and placing advertisements in periodicals or on websites. D.F. King & Co. is assisting us in the solicitation of proxies and provides us with advice and support related to solicitation. We do not expect the total costs to us for D.F. King's services to exceed \$20,000.

In addition, if banks, brokers and other nominees representing shareholders who hold their shares in street name make the request, we will reimburse them for their expenses in forwarding voting materials and obtaining voting instructions from these shareholders.

#### Who will count the votes?

Broadridge Financial Solutions will act as the master tabulator and count the votes.

Beneficial ownership of our common stock

#### Beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock

The following table sets forth information about the individuals and entities which beneficially owned more than five percent of our common stock as of March 1, 2019. This information is based solely on SEC filings made by the individuals and entities by that date.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class(1)
BlackRock, Inc. et al. (2)	-	
55 East 52nd Street	2,985,145	14.3%
New York, New York 10055		
The Vanguard Group, Inc. (3)		
100 Vanguard Blvd.	2,093,283	10.1%
Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355		
GAMCO Investors, Inc. et al. (4)		
One Corporate Center	1,562,842	7.5%
Rye, New York 10580-1435		
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP (5)		
Building One, 6300 Bee Cave Road	1,276,180	6.1%
Austin, Texas 78746		

<sup>(1)</sup>Applicable percentage ownership is based on 20,822,741 shares of our common stock outstanding at March 1, 2019, other than shares held by our subsidiaries.

<sup>(2)</sup> This information is based on a Schedule 13G amendment dated January 28, 2019 filed with the SEC by BlackRock, Inc. reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2018. BlackRock, Inc. reports sole voting power over 2,936,009 shares and sole dispositive power over 2,985,145 shares. The Schedule 13G amendment was filed by Blackrock, Inc. as a parent holding company with respect to the following subsidiaries: BlackRock Advisors, LLC, BlackRock (Netherlands) B.V., BlackRock Fund Advisors, BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, National Association, BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited, BlackRock Financial Management, Inc., BlackRock

Asset Management Schweiz AG, BlackRock Investment Management, LLC, BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited, BlackRock Asset Management Canada Limited and BlackRock Investment Management (Australia) Limited. The Schedule 13G amendment indicates that BlackRock Fund Advisors beneficially owns 5% or greater of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

(3)This information is based on a Schedule 13G amendment dated February 11, 2019 filed with the SEC by The Vanguard Group, Inc. reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2018. The Vanguard Group, Inc. reports sole voting power with respect to 23,302 shares, shared voting power with respect to 3,588 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 2,069,093 shares and shared dispositive power with respect to 24,190 shares. The Vanguard Group, Inc. also reports that Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the beneficial owner of 20,602 shares as a result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts and that Vanguard Investments Australia, Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the beneficial owner of 6,288 shares as a result of its serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings.

(4)This information is based on a Schedule 13D amendment dated December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC by GAMCO Investors, Inc., Mario J. Gabelli ("Mario Gabelli") GGCP, Inc. ("GGCP"), Associated Capital Group, Inc. ("AC"), Gabelli Funds, LLC ("Gabelli Funds"), GAMCO Asset Management Inc. ("GAMCO"), Gabelli & Company Investment Advisers, Inc. ("GCIA"), MJG Associates, Inc. ("MJG Associates") and Gabelli Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation") reporting beneficial ownership as of December 28, 2018. The Schedule 13D amendment reports that the principal business office of GGCP and MJG Associates is 140 Greenwich Avenue, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830, and the principal business office of the Foundation is 165 West Liberty Street, Reno, Nevada 89501. The Schedule 13D amendment reports that Gabelli Funds has sole voting and sole dispositive power with respect to 323,362 shares, GAMCO has sole voting power with respect to 1,082,396 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 1,203,396 shares, MJG Associates has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to 20,800 shares, GCIA has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to 8,000 shares, GGCP has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to 3,684 shares, and AC has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to 1,000 shares. The Schedule 13D amendment further reports that Mario Gabelli is deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares owned beneficially by each of the entities listed in the immediately preceding sentence.

(5)This information is based on a Schedule 13G dated February 8, 2019 filed with the SEC by Dimensional Fund Advisors LP reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2018. Dimensional Fund Advisors LP reports sole voting power over 1,233,710 shares and sole dispositive power over 1,276,180 shares in its role as investment advisor to certain investment companies or as investment manager to certain commingled funds, group trusts and separate accounts which own such shares. In its Schedule 13G, Dimensional Fund Advisors LP disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares.

## Director and executive officer ownership of our common stock

The following table sets forth information as of March 1, 2019 about the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by our directors and the executive officers listed in the summary compensation table included in this proxy statement, as well as the shares of our common stock that our current directors and executive officers own as a group. It also includes information regarding the number of phantom shares payable in cash and deferred stock units held by our directors payable in shares. These phantom shares and deferred stock units are not included in the number of shares beneficially owned, but reflect the economic interests of our directors in our common stock.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership of Shares(1)	Directors' Phantom Shares(2)	Directors' Stock Units(3)	Percent of Class(4)
Stephen E. Macadam	252,720		_	1.2%
Marvin A. Riley	17,400		_	*
Thomas M. Botts	14,063	_	2,734	*
Felix Brueck	10,222		6,251	*
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.	19,137		_	*
Diane C. Creel	19,277	_	_	*
Adele M. Gulfo	1,972		_	*
David L. Hauser	22,413	4,296	7,903	*
John Humphrey	8,427		2,191	*
Kees van der Graaf	13,546		_	*
J. Milton Childress II	38,547	_	_	*
Robert S. McLean	25,190	_	_	*
William C. O'Neal	6,303	_	_	*
16 directors and executive officers as a group	463,391	4,296	19,079	2.2%

<sup>\*</sup>Less than 1%

(1)These numbers include the following shares that the individuals may acquire within 60 days after March 1, 2019 pursuant to outstanding phantom share awards payable in shares immediately upon termination of service as a director: Mr. Botts, 11,963 shares; Mr. Brueck, 9,222 shares; Mr. Burns, 13,112 shares; Ms. Creel, 18,277 shares; Ms. Gulfo, 1,972 shares; Mr. Hauser, 21,591 shares; Mr. Humphrey, 6,427 shares; Mr. van der Graaf, 12,346 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 94,768 shares. These numbers include the following shares that the individuals may acquire within 60 days after March 1, 2019 through the exercise of stock options: Mr. Macadam, 18,187 option shares and the same number of option shares for all directors and executive officers as a group. The numbers also include 1,122 shares held in our Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried Employees allocated to Mr. Childress and 3,537 shares in the aggregate allocated to members of all directors and executive officers as a group. The numbers also include 10,402 shares held in an IRA by Mr. Macadam and 12,402 shares in the aggregate held in IRA accounts by all directors and executive officers as a group. The amounts reported do not include restricted stock units as follows: Mr. Macadam, 39,518 restricted stock units; Mr. Riley, 18,940 restricted stock units; Mr. Childress, 8,107 restricted stock units; Mr. McLean, 5,063 restricted stock units; Mr. O'Neal, 2,109 restricted stock units; and all

directors and executive officers as a group, 78,591 restricted stock units. The amounts reported include the following restricted stock units that are vested but deferred under our Management Stock Purchase Plan: Mr. Macadam, 4,116 shares; Mr. Childress, 394 shares; Mr. McLean, 626 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 5,256 shares. The amounts reported do not include share unit accounts under our Management Stock Purchase Plan for deferrals of annual incentive compensation: Mr. Macadam, 22,502 shares; Mr. Childress, 2,261 shares; Mr. McLean, 2,525 shares; and all directors and executive officers as a group, 28,224 shares. The amounts reported include the following number of shares pledged as security: 100,000 shares by Mr. Macadam and the same number of shares by all directors and executive officers as a group. Such shares are pledged by Mr. Macadam to secure a managed trading program with respect to a broad securities index that does not include any EnPro securities. This pledge transaction was approved in advance in accordance with our policy regarding the pledging of EnPro shares by executive officers, which requires that an executive not pledge shares up to his or her minimum shareholding requirement.

(2)These numbers reflect the phantom shares awarded under our Outside Directors' Phantom Share Plan. When they leave the board, these directors will receive cash in an amount equal to the value of the phantom shares awarded under the Outside Directors' Phantom Share Plan. See "Corporate Governance Policies and Practices—Director Compensation." Because the phantom shares are payable in cash, these directors have neither voting nor investment authority in common stock arising from their ownership of these phantom shares and are therefore not deemed to beneficially own shares underlying these awards, though the directors' economic interests with respect to these awards are equivalent to the economic interests of stock ownership.

(3)These numbers reflect the number of stock units credited to those non-employee directors who have elected to defer all or a part of the cash portion of their annual retainer and meeting fees pursuant to our Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. See "Corporate Governance Policies and Practices—Director Compensation." Because the stock units are not actual shares of our common stock and the directors may not receive the underlying shares within 60 days after March 1, 2019, the directors do not currently beneficially own the underlying shares, though the directors' investment with respect to these units are equivalent to the economic interests of stock ownership.

(4)These percentages do not include the directors' phantom shares or stock units described in footnotes 1 and 2, above. Applicable percentage ownership is based on 20,822,741 shares of our common stock outstanding at March 1, 2019, other than shares held by our subsidiaries.

# Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and officers and people who own more than 10% of our common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common stock. The SEC requires these people to give us copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

We have reviewed the copies of all reports furnished to us. Based solely on this review, we believe that no director, officer, or 10% shareholder failed to timely file in 2018 any

report required by Section 16(a), other than the late filings by the following executive officers: (i) Jon D. Rickers, our Senior Vice President, Human Resources, with respect to a Form 4 to report the sale of 500 shares and (ii) Marvin A. Riley, our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, with respect to a Form 4 to report an exempted award of 7,500 restricted stock units made by the company to him.

## Proposal 1 — Election of directors (Item 1 on the proxy card)

At our annual meeting, shareholders are asked to elect ten directors who will hold office until our 2020 annual meeting or until their respective successors are elected and qualified. Our board of directors presently consists of nine directors, eight of whom were elected at the 2018 annual meeting of shareholders and one, Adele M. Gulfo, who was elected in October 2018 when the size of the board was expanded from eight to nine. Our board of directors has further increased the size of the board to ten effective at the commencement of the annual meeting and has nominated Marvin A. Riley, our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, for election as a director. Although historically the only employee to serve on the board of directors has been our Chief Executive Officer, the board of directors has nominated Mr. Riley for election as a director to facilitate his transition into the office of Chief Executive Officer upon the announced retirement in July 2019 of Stephen E. Macadam as our Chief Executive Officer.

All of the nominees other than Mr. Riley are incumbent directors whose terms would otherwise expire upon the election of directors at the meeting. The average tenure of the independent directors nominated for election at the annual meeting is 6.0 years, with the tenure of the incumbent directors ranging from five months to 12 years.

In selecting new members to the board, we have sought individuals with diverse skills and experiences to complement those of the other directors. Ms. Gulfo brings to the board a

deep experience in global markets and the pharmaceutical industry and knowledge of transforming commercial operations, maximizing efficiency and significantly increasing employee engagement. The selection of Ms. Gulfo was the result of a deliberative process undertaken by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of our board of directors. This committee is composed entirely of independent directors. Ms. Gulfo was recommended to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee by an unrelated third party contacted by our corporate Secretary in conjunction with the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee's effort to broaden the skills, industry experience and diversity of the board.

All nominees have indicated that they are willing to serve as directors if elected, though Mr. Macadam has announced his intention to withdraw from the board upon his retirement from all positions with the company in February 2020. Properly executed proxies that do not contain voting instructions will be voted for the election of each of these nominees. If any nominee should become unable or unwilling to serve, the proxies will be voted for the election of a person designated by the board of directors to replace the nominee. Under our bylaws no person less than 18 years of age is eligible to be elected as a director.

The board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" the election of each of the nominees for director named on the following pages.

## **Nominees for election**

#### Stephen E. Macadam

#### **Chief Executive Officer and President**

Age 58 Director since 2008

#### **Experience:**

Mr. Macadam has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President since April 2008. Mr. Macadam will be retiring as our Chief Executive Officer and President on July 29, 2019, at which time he will serve in an executive capacity as our Vice Chairman, and he will be retiring from that position at the end of February 2020. Prior to joining EnPro, he was Chief Executive Officer of BlueLinx Holdings Inc. Before joining BlueLinx in October 2005, Mr. Macadam had been the President and Chief Executive Officer of Consolidated Container Company LLC since August 2001.

He served previously with Georgia-Pacific Corp. where he was Executive Vice President, Pulp & Paperboard from July 2000 until August 2001, and Senior Vice President, Containerboard & Packaging from March 1998 until July 2000. Mr. Macadam held positions of increasing responsibility with McKinsey and Company, Inc. from 1988 until 1998, culminating in the role of principal in charge of McKinsey's Charlotte, North Carolina operation.

He received a B.S. in mechanical engineering from the University of Kentucky, an M.S. in finance from Boston College and an M.B.A. from Harvard University, where he was a Baker Scholar.

Mr. Macadam's employment agreement provides that during the term of his employment with EnPro he will be included in the slate nominated by the board of directors for election as a member of the board.

# Current public company directorships:

- •Louisiana-Pacific Corporation
- •Valvoline Inc.

# Public company directorships in the last five years:

Axiall Corporation

- •Ten years as EnPro's Chief Executive Officer.
- •Active involvement in and deep understanding of our company's operations and markets.

•Specific knowledge of our businesses, our people, our challenges and our prospects for continued growth.

## Marvin A. Riley

#### **Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer**

Age 44 Director Nominee

# **Experience:**

Mr. Riley has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since July 2017. Our board of directors anticipates appointing Mr. Riley as Chief Executive Officer and President upon Mr. Macadam's retirement from those positions on July 29, 2019.

Mr. Riley served as President of our Fairbanks Morse Engine division from May 2012 to May 2018. Prior to that Mr. Riley served as Vice President, Manufacturing, of EnPro since December 2011. Mr. Riley served as Vice President Global Operations of our GGB division from November 2009 until November 2011 and as Vice President Operations Americas, GGB division, from July 2007 until November 2011. Prior to joining EnPro, Mr. Riley was an executive with General Motors Vehicle Manufacturing and held multiple positions of increasing responsibility from 1997 to 2007 within General Motors.

Mr. Riley received a B.S.E.E. in electrical engineering from Howard University and an M.B.A. from Johns Hopkins University and completed the Advanced Management Program at the Harvard Business School.

#### **Current public company directorships:**

•TimkenSteel Corporation

- •Over ten years' experience in divisional management and senior corporate executive roles at EnPro.
- •Active involvement in and deep understanding of our company's operations and markets.
- •Specific knowledge of our businesses, our people, our challenges and our prospects for continued growth.

#### Thomas M. Botts

Age 64 Director since 2012

#### **Experience:**

Mr. Botts retired from Royal Dutch Shell on December 31, 2012 as executive vice president, global manufacturing, Shell Downstream Inc. He was responsible for Shell's global manufacturing business, including all refineries and chemical complexes.

He joined Shell in 1977 as a production engineer and served in a number of corporate and operating roles including executive vice president for exploration and production (E&P) in Europe, leading Shell's largest E&P unit. He held those responsibilities from 2003 to 2009.

He has been a member of the board of directors of the National Association of Manufacturers, a member of the American Petroleum Institute Downstream Committee, and a member of the council of overseers for the Jones Graduate School of Business at Rice University.

He currently is a non-Executive Director for Wood plc, an international energy services company based in the United Kingdom, a member of the board of directors of

the University of Wyoming Foundation, Chairman of the Governor's Tier 1 Task Force at the University of Wyoming, a member of the Energy Resources Council, University of Wyoming, and a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Mr. Botts received a B.S. in Civil Engineering from the University of Wyoming.

# **Current public company directorships:**

•Wood plc

- •Thirty-five years of global business experience in oil and gas exploration and production and refining and petrochemical manufacturing.
- •Extensive experience in our oil, gas and petrochemical markets.
- •Successful leadership in business transformation in large scale, multi-country organizations.

#### Felix M. Brueck

Age 63
Director since 2014

# **Experience:**

Mr. Brueck is a Director Emeritus of McKinsey & Company, Inc., a global consulting firm. He was a Director at McKinsey prior to his retirement in 2012. During his almost 30-year career with McKinsey, Mr. Brueck specialized in counseling clients in operational and organizational transformations of entire companies, major functions or business units in technologically complex industries. He was based in offices in Munich, Tokyo and Cleveland.

While at McKinsey, Mr. Brueck led the Firm's Manufacturing Practice in the Americas and its Organizational Effectiveness Practice in the Americas. He was a founder of McKinsey's Performance Transformation Practice.

Prior to joining McKinsey, Mr. Brueck worked as an engineer for Robert Bosch GmbH.

Mr. Brueck received a Dipl. Ing. (the equivalent of a Master's Degree in Mechanical Engineering) from RWTH Aachen University in Germany and a Master's Degree in International Management from Thunderbird School of Global Management.

- •Expertise and insights developed over 30 years into operational and organizational strategies and structures across a broad range of the industries in which EnPro operates.
- •Skill and experience in leadership development and optimizing productivity.
- •Experience as an advisor to companies around the world regarding global markets, business environments and practices.

#### B. Bernard Burns, Jr.

Age 70 Director since 2011

#### **Experience:**

Mr. Burns' career has focused on corporate law, industrial manufacturing, mergers and acquisitions, and service on the boards of companies engaged in a variety of businesses.

Mr. Burns retired as counsel to the law firm McGuireWoods LLP in 2018, and was a partner of that firm from 2001 to 2011, and of a predecessor firm from 1979 to 1989. He also served as the Managing Director of McGuireWoods Capital Group, a merger-and-acquisition advisory business, which he co-founded in 2001, until 2018. Prior to 2001, Mr. Burns served in various executive capacities with United Dominion Industries Limited, a diversified industrial manufacturer. At United Dominion, he was Senior Vice President and General Counsel from 1993 to 1996, and president of several of its operating segments and divisions from 1996 to 2001.

Mr. Burns earned a B.A. from Furman University and a J.D. from the Duke University School of Law and completed the Advanced Management Program at Duke University's Fuqua School of Business.

## **Qualifications:**

- •Deep experience in legal, corporate governance and operating issues.
- •Extensive experience in mergers and acquisitions, including assessment of the valuation and performance of potential acquisitions.
- •Long tenure as a senior manager in diverse roles at a large diversified manufacturer.
- •Considerable board of director experience at a number of private companies engaged in a broad spectrum of manufacturing and distribution businesses, including service as interim CEO and member of compensation, audit and executive committees.

## Diane C. Creel

Age 70 Director since 2009

#### **Experience:**

Ms. Creel served as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Ecovation, Inc., a waste-to-energy systems company, from May 2003 until her retirement in September 2008. Before joining Ecovation, Ms. Creel was Chief Executive Officer and President of Earth Tech, Inc., an international consulting engineering firm, a position she held from January 1991 to May 2003. She joined Earth Tech as Vice President in 1984 and served there as Chief Operating Officer from 1987 to 1991.

Ms. Creel was director of business development and communications for CH2M Hill from 1978 to 1984, manager of communications for Caudill Rowlett Scott from 1976 to 1978, and director of public relations for LBC&W, Architects-Engineers-Planners from 1971 to 1976.

Ms. Creel has a B.A. and M.A. from the University of South Carolina.

# **Current public company directorships:**

- •Allegheny Technologies Incorporated (lead director)
- •TimkenSteel Corporation

## Public company directorships in the last five years:

- •Timken Corporation
- URS Corporation

- •Extensive senior management experience, including 15 years as a CEO/Chairman of the Board.
- •Experience in and knowledge of mergers and acquisitions, environmental matters, corporate governance, strategic planning, finance, executive compensation and benefits and international markets.

#### Adele M. Gulfo

Age 56 Director since 2018

## **Experience:**

Ms. Gulfo is Chief of Commercial Development of Roivant Sciences Ltd., a firm focused on rapidly developing innovative medicines through a novel form of industrial organization. Prior to joining Roivant Sciences in May 2018, Ms. Gulfo served as Executive Vice President and Head of Global Commercial Development for Mylan N.V. from January 2014 to January 2018, having previously served as Mylan's Chief Strategy Officer since January 2014. Before joining Mylan, Ms. Gulfo spent five years at Pfizer Inc. in a number of executive positions, most recently serving as the President and General Manager, Latin America, covering operations in 24 countries. Prior to joining Pfizer, she held several managerial positions at AstraZeneca Pharmaceuticals and at the Parke-Davis division of Warner-Lambert (which later merged with Pfizer), and as the Senior Director, Cardiovascular Marketing for that company implemented the marketing campaigns that established Lipitor as the market leader within two years of launch.

Ms. Gulfo holds a B.S. in Biology from Seton Hall University and a M.B.A. in Marketing from Fairleigh Dickinson University.

## **Current public company directorships:**

•Bemis Company, Inc.

## **Qualifications:**

- •Extensive commercial development and marketing background, with deep experience in global markets and the pharmaceutical industry.
- •Executive experience in multiple firms with strategic planning, transforming commercial operations, maximizing efficiency and increasing employee engagement.

#### David L. Hauser

Age 67 Director since 2007

## **Experience:**

Mr. Hauser was affiliated with FairPoint Communications, Inc., a communications services company, from July 2009 until March 2011. He joined FairPoint as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and served as a

consultant to the company from August 2010 until March 2011.

Prior to joining FairPoint, Mr. Hauser had a 35-year career with Duke Energy Corporation, one of the largest electric power companies in the United States. He was Group Executive and Chief Financial Officer of Duke Energy from April 2006 until June 30, 2009, and was Chief Financial Officer and Group Vice President from February 2004 to April 2006. He was named acting Chief Financial Officer in November 2003. He was Senior Vice President and Treasurer from June 1998 to November 2003. During his first 20 years with Duke Energy, Mr. Hauser served in various accounting positions, including controller.

Mr. Hauser is a member of the board of trustees of Furman University and a past member of the board of trustees of the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. He has retired as a member of the North Carolina Association of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hauser received a B.A. from Furman University and an M.B.A. from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte.

# **Current public company directorships:**

•OGE Energy Corp.

## **Qualifications:**

- •Training and experience in various accounting and financial reporting roles.
- •Service as the chief financial officer of a major corporation provides valuable insight into accounting, financial controls and financial reporting.
- •Understanding of public company strategic and corporate planning, including capital allocation.

# John Humphrey

Age 53
Director since 2015

## **Experience:**

From 2011 to May 2017, Mr. Humphrey served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Roper Technologies, Inc., a Fortune 1000 company that designs and develops software and engineered products and solutions for healthcare, transportation, food, energy, water, education and other niche markets worldwide, and he retired from Roper in December 2017. From 2006 to 2011, he served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Roper. Prior to joining Roper, Mr. Humphrey served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Honeywell Aerospace, the aviation segment of Honeywell International Inc., after serving in several financial positions with Honeywell International and its predecessor AlliedSignal. Mr. Humphrey's earlier career included 6 years with Detroit Diesel Corporation, a manufacturer of heavy-duty engines, in a variety of engineering and manufacturing management positions.

Mr. Humphrey is a member of the Board of Advisors of the Elon University Love School of Business.

Mr. Humphrey received a B.S. in Industrial Engineering from Purdue University and an M.B.A. in Finance from the University of Michigan.

## **Current public company directorships:**

- •Gardner Denver Holdings, Inc.
- •Owens-Illinois, Inc.

#### **Qualifications:**

- •Prior service as the chief financial officer of a Fortune 1000 corporation provides insight into accounting and financial issues affecting public corporations.
- •Experience with international markets, business environments and practices.
- •Experience and expertise in capital allocation and strategic planning, including mergers and acquisitions and other business development activities.
- •Experience in management of several manufacturing companies provides insight into manufacturing and operational issues.

#### Kees van der Graaf

Age 68 Director since 2012

## **Experience:**

Mr. van der Graaf is owner and chairman of FSHD Unlimited, a biotechnology company he founded in October 2014. Mr. van der Graaf was an Executive-in-Residence at IMD International, an international business school based in Lausanne, Switzerland between 2008 and 2011 and was Co-director of the IMD Global Center in 2011.

Prior to joining IMD, Mr. van der Graaf enjoyed a 32-year career with Unilever NV and Unilever PLC, which operate the Unilever Group, a multinational supplier of fast-moving consumer goods. At Unilever, Mr. van der Graaf served as President of Ice Cream and Frozen Foods—Europe from 2001 to 2004 and as a member of the Board and Executive Committee of Unilever NV and Unilever PLC from 2004 to 2008. During that period, he had responsibilities for the Global Foods division and later for the European Business group.

Until February 2015, Mr. van der Graaf served as a member of the board of directors of Ben & Jerry's, a wholly owned subsidiary of Unilever, which is charged with preserving and expanding Ben & Jerry's social mission, brand integrity and product quality.

He has also served as a member of the supervisory boards of several privately held European-based companies and served as chairman of the supervisory board of the University of Twente in The Netherlands.

Mr. van der Graaf received a degree in mechanical engineering and an M.B.A. from the University of Twente.

#### **Current public company directorships:**

- •Basic-Fit N.V. (Chairman)
- •GrandVision N.V. (Chairman)

# Public company directorships in the last five years:

- •Carlsberg A/S
- •OCI N.V.

#### **Qualifications:**

- •Extensive experience as an executive manager in global public corporations.
- •Geographic knowledge and management experience in European markets, business environments and practices.

# **Board leadership structure**

The primary responsibility of our board of directors is to oversee and direct management in its conduct of our business. Members of the board are kept informed about our business through discussions with the Chairman and our officers, by reviewing materials provided to them, and by participating in board and committee meetings. In addition, non-management directors meet periodically in executive session without members of management present. These sessions are presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, presently Mr. Hauser, who is functionally our lead independent director.

We believe that the positions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer should be held by separate individuals, and they have been since the inception of our company. The role of Chairman is a non-executive

position currently filled by Mr. Hauser, an independent director. Mr. Macadam, our Chief Executive Officer, is the only current director who is employed by the company. Mr. Riley has been nominated for election as a director in contemplation of his appointment to succeed Mr. Macadam upon his retirement from that position. This structure continues to be appropriate for our company given the individuals serving, and to be serving, in those positions. Mr. Hauser is a former chief executive officer of a publicly held company and serves and has served as a director of other public companies. This experience, coupled with his knowledge of and familiarity with our company and its businesses through his service on our board of directors, gives him the ability to serve as a valued sounding board for our Chief Executive Officer.

#### **Committee structure**

Our board of directors has four committees:

- •an Executive Committee,
- •an Audit and Risk Management Committee,
- •a Compensation and Human Resources Committee, and
- •a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

To maximize the efficiency of our board, all of our independent directors serve on each committee other than the Executive Committee. For a list of our independent directors, see "Corporate Governance Policies and Practices—Director Independence."

Each board committee operates under a written charter approved by the board. Copies of these charters are available on our website at *www.enproindustries.com*. Click on "For Investors" and then "Corporate Governance" and then "Committees" and look under "Committee Charters." Copies of the charters are also available in print to any shareholder who requests them.

*Executive Committee*. The Executive Committee is chaired by Mr. Macadam and includes Mr. Hauser and the chairs of the other board committees. Its primary function is to exercise the powers of the board as and when directed by the board or when the board is not in session, excluding powers which may not be delegated to a committee of directors

under North Carolina law. The committee did not meet in 2018.

Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Audit and Risk Management Committee assists the board in monitoring the integrity of our financial statements, our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, our management of areas of significant risk (including insurance, pension, cybersecurity, environmental and litigation) and the qualifications, independence and performance of our internal auditors and independent registered public accounting firm.

This committee has the sole authority to appoint or replace our independent registered public accounting firm and to approve all related fees. It met four times in 2018. Mr. Burns is the chairman.

Compensation and Human Resources Committee. The Compensation and Human Resources Committee assists the board and management in overseeing the appropriateness and cost of our compensation and benefit programs, particularly for executives. The committee sets the salaries and annual bonus and long-term award opportunities for our senior executives, assesses the performance of our Chief Executive Officer, and oversees succession planning. Responsibility for the design, administration, asset management and funding policies of our qualified and non-qualified benefit plans is delegated to a benefits committee consisting of members of management and other employees. However, the Compensation Committee has expressly retained the authority to approve amendments to benefit plans (except those resulting from collective bargaining agreements) that would materially affect the cost, basic nature or financing of these plans. In addition, the committee approves all formal policies established by the benefits committee and reviews the benefits committee's activities at least once a year. The committee met five times in 2018. Mr. Botts is the chairman.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assists the board and management in exercising sound corporate governance. This committee identifies and nominates individuals who are qualified to become members of the board, assesses the effectiveness of the board and its committees, and recommends board committee assignments. It also reviews various corporate governance issues, including those items discussed under "Corporate Governance Policies and Practices." The committee met four times in 2018. Mr. Hauser is the chairman.

# Risk oversight

As described above, the Audit and Risk Management Committee assists the board in monitoring our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the way we manage areas of significant risk. The company's internal audit group periodically analyzes risks to our company and reports the results of its analysis to the Audit and Risk

Management Committee. The head of the internal audit group reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and customarily attends meetings of that committee. Our General Counsel also customarily attends the committee's meetings.

## **Meetings and attendance**

The board met four times in 2018. Board and committee meetings are typically held on successive days, with meetings typically covering two days. The board conducts periodic visits to our facilities as part of its regularly scheduled meetings. In 2018, each director attended at least 75% of the meetings of the full board and of the board

committees on which he or she serves that were held during the period of the director's service.

All directors are encouraged by policy to attend our annual meeting of shareholders and all but one of the members of the board who were then elected as directors attended our 2018 annual meeting.

Corporate governance policies and practices

Our board of directors and management firmly embrace good and accountable corporate governance. We believe an attentive board operating under the highest standards of corporate governance is a tangible competitive advantage. Our board has undertaken substantial efforts to meet those standards.

# **Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct**

The board regularly reviews our Corporate Governance Guidelines, taking into account recent trends in corporate governance and any new rules adopted by the NYSE and the SEC. Among other things, these guidelines specify that:

- •the Chief Executive Officer should be the only employee who serves as a director subject to exceptions approved by the board of directors—the board of directors approved the exception for the nomination of Mr. Riley for election as a director in contemplation of the transition in the office of Chief Executive Officer to occur at the end of July 2019;
- •a substantial majority of the members of the board should be independent;
- •the board should hold regularly scheduled executive sessions without management present;
- •board members should attend our annual shareholders' meeting; and
- •the board should annually evaluate its performance and contributions, and those of its committees.

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines also:

•require any nominee for director in an uncontested election to tender a resignation if a greater number of votes are "withheld" from his or her election than are voted "for" the nominee; and

•prohibit directors from using EnPro stock in hedging or monetization transactions, including through the use of financial instruments such as exchange funds, prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, puts, calls, collars, forwards and other derivative instruments.

Our Code of Business Conduct (the "Code") applies to our directors and all EnPro employees, including our principal executive, financial and accounting officers. The Code covers conflicts of interest, corporate opportunities, confidentiality, protection and proper use of company assets, fair dealing, compliance with laws (including insider trading laws), the accuracy and reliability of our books and records, and the reporting of illegal or unethical behavior.

The Code requires all transactions by directors or employees that would create a conflict of interest, including related party transactions that require disclosure in our proxy statement, to be reviewed by a member of our internal Corporate Compliance Committee or an attorney in our legal department. The Code also requires the transaction to be presented to our Chief Executive Officer and the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The Code does not include specific procedures for dealing with these transactions, but allows them to be dealt with case-by-case as they arise. All members of the board and all officers must annually certify their compliance with the Code. Each member of the board and each officer certified compliance without exception in the first quarter of 2019.

Copies of the Code and our Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on our website at *www.enproindustries.com*. From our home page, click on the "For Investors" tab, then on "Corporate Governance," then on "Corporate Governance Document" and then, for the Code, click "Code of Conduct" and, for the Corporate Governance Guidelines, click on "Board of Directors" and then "Corporate Governance Guidelines."

# **Director independence**

The EnPro board believes a substantial majority of directors should be independent. In connection with its nomination of the director nominees listed in this proxy statement, the board considered the independence of each person serving as a director and each nominee and determined that Mr. Botts, Mr. Brueck, Mr. Burns, Ms. Creel, Ms. Gulfo, Mr. Hauser, Mr. Humphrey and Mr. van der Graaf are independent. Mr. Macadam and Mr. Riley are employees and are not considered independent.

To determine independence, the board used the definition of an "independent director" in the NYSE listing standards and our Corporate Governance Guidelines, which categorize a director as independent only if the board affirms the director has no outside material relationship with our company (either directly or as a director, partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with us).

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines, a director or nominee may be deemed independent even though we have a relationship with an organization with which he or she is affiliated as a director, partner, shareholder or officer. In such situations, the director or nominee is deemed independent so long as:

- •the relationship is in the ordinary course of our business and is on substantially the same terms as those generally prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unaffiliated persons; and
- •if the relationship involves credit being extended to us, all applicable laws have been complied with and no default has occurred.

Under the guidelines, a director or nominee cannot be independent if he or she falls into one of the following categories:

- •the director or nominee is an EnPro employee, or has been within the past three years, or an immediate family member of the director or nominee is an executive officer of EnPro, or has been within the past three years;
- •the director or nominee, or an immediate family member, has received more than \$120,000 in direct compensation from us during any 12-month period within the past

three years; director and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for prior service are excluded, provided the compensation is in no way contingent on continued service;

- •the director or nominee, or an immediate family member, is a current partner of our auditor; the director or nominee is a current employee of our auditor; the director or nominee has an immediate family member who is a current employee of our auditor and who personally works on our audit; or the director or nominee, or an immediate family member, was a partner or employee of our auditor within the past three years and personally worked on our audit within that time:
- •the director or nominee, or an immediate family member, is, or has been in the past three years, employed by a company whose board includes an executive officer of EnPro who serves on the other board's compensation committee:
- •the director or nominee is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive officer, of a company whose sales to us or purchases from us in any of the past three fiscal years exceeded the greater of

\$1,000,000 or 2% of the other company's consolidated annual revenues; or

•the director or nominee, or the spouse of the director or nominee, is an officer, director or trustee of a charitable organization which receives discretionary charitable contributions from us exceeding the greater of \$1,000,000 or 2% of the other organization's annual revenues.

Each director and nominee has completed a questionnaire to identify any relationships he or she may have with us or with any of our executive officers or other directors. After discussing all relationships disclosed in the responses to these questionnaires, the board determined that no director or nominee, except Mr. Macadam and Mr. Riley, has a material relationship with the company other than as a director and all directors and nominees, except for Mr. Macadam and Mr. Riley, are independent.

## Board, committee and director evaluations

The board of directors and the Audit and Risk Management, Compensation and Human Resources, and Nominating and Corporate Governance committees each assess their performances with yearly self-evaluations. The evaluations are completed by means of a questionnaire submitted to the directors inviting written comments on all aspects of the board's and each committee's process. In addition, the evaluations include an individual director assessment

component to permit each director to evaluate the contributions of each of the other directors. The evaluations are summarized, reviewed by the Chairman of the Board and become the basis for discussions of board, committee and director performances and recommendations for improvements in the ways the board and committees function and directors perform their duties.

# Audit committee financial expert

The board of directors has determined that Mr. Humphrey, a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in Item 401(h) of the SEC's Regulation S-K. At its February 2019 meeting, the board determined that Mr. Humphrey, through his education and experience, including his experience serving as the chief financial officer of a large public company, has all of the following attributes:

- •an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial statements;
- •the ability to assess the general application of those principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves:
- experience in preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that our financial statements can reasonably be expected to raise;
- •an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting; and
- •an understanding of audit committee functions.

## **Director candidate qualifications**

When considering candidates for director, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee takes into account a number of factors, including whether the candidate is independent from management and the company, whether the candidate has relevant business experience, the composition of the existing board, and the candidate's existing commitments to other businesses.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee seeks diversity among the directors, including diversity in professional experience, skills and industry background, as well as gender and geographic diversity. In addition, all candidates must meet the requirements of our Corporate Governance Guidelines. Those requirements include:

- •broad training and experience at the policy-making level in business, government, education, technology or philanthropy;
- •expertise useful to our company and complementary to the background and experience of other board members, so that we can achieve and maintain an optimum balance in board membership;
- •high integrity, strength of character and mature judgment essential to effective decision-making;
- devoting the time required for the work of the board and one or more of its committees. Candidates should be willing to serve on the board over a period of several years in order to develop sound knowledge of our business and principal operations;

•no significant conflict of interest; and

•being at least 18 and no more than 72 years old. A candidate who has reached age 72 may be nominated for election or re-election if the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and our board of directors determine his or her nomination is in the best interests of our company and our shareholders. The determination will be made by a majority vote of directors not subject to the age limit.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider candidates for director who are recommended by shareholders. Shareholders who wish to suggest a candidate for nomination should send a written statement addressed to our Secretary at 5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500, Charlotte, North Carolina 28209. See "Shareholder Proposals" on page 55 for a description of the requirements to be followed under our bylaws in submitting a candidate and the content of the required statements.

## **Nomination process**

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee annually reviews a matrix, similar to the matrix appearing on page 3, which compares the skills of our current directors with all of the skills we have identified as necessary to maintain an attentive, high-functioning board. When the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee identifies desirable skills that are lacking among incumbent directors, the Committee searches to identify candidates who would add the missing skills. The search includes soliciting suggestions from incumbent directors, management or others and evaluating suggestions submitted by shareholders. The Committee may also engage a third party to identify and evaluate candidates and has done so in the past.

As noted above, in addition to seeking to expand the skills of the board of directors when adding new members to the board of directors, the Committee also considers matters of the diversity of the members of the board, including with respect to professional experience and industry background, as well as gender and geographic diversity. The Committee evaluates the candidates and if it agrees on the suitability of a candidate, the candidate is interviewed by each member of the board of directors, generally in separate meetings. The Committee may also ask the candidate to meet with management.

If the Committee concludes a candidate has skills which would add value to the board and if the candidate meets all of the requirements for membership, the Committee will recommend the candidate to the full board for nomination for election or appointment (if the purpose of the search was to fill a vacancy).

As noted in his biographical information on page 16, Mr. Hauser joined FairPoint Communications, Inc. in July 2009 as its Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and served as a consultant to the company from August 2010 until March 2011. In October 2009, FairPoint Communications and all of its direct and indirect subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has evaluated this event with respect to Mr. Hauser's nomination for reelection to the board of directors. Considering the well-publicized challenges facing FairPoint Communications at the time Mr. Hauser joined that company, his awareness of those challenges and his commitment to FairPoint Communications in the face of those challenges, the Committee and the full board support his nomination for re-election to the board.

Before recommending a sitting director for re-election, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers whether the director's re-election would be consistent with the criteria for board membership in our Corporate Governance Guidelines (as described above), the skills identified in the matrix used by the Committee (as described above) and applicable rules and requirements of the SEC and NYSE. This process includes a review by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the responses to the annual director questionnaires.

Our directors share certain characteristics that we believe are critical to effective board membership. They include sound and mature business judgment and critical thinking skills essential to intelligent decision-making, experience in policy-making, integrity and honesty, and the ability to collaborate effectively. These characteristics, and the specific experiences and qualifications noted in the biographies found in the section headed "Nominees for Election" support the board's nomination for election of each of these individuals.

#### Communications with the board

Shareholders and other interested parties can communicate with our board in various ways. They may write the board at 5605 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 500, Charlotte, North Carolina 28209; they may contact the board anonymously and confidentially through our EnTegrity Assistance Line; and they may attend our annual shareholders meeting, where they will have the opportunity to talk directly to members of our board.

Letters to the board should be addressed in care of our Secretary, who the board has authorized to receive and process written correspondence. He will direct correspondence about issues within the board's scope of responsibility directly to the Chairman and to the chairman of any committee to which the correspondence relates. Customer complaints and other correspondence about ordinary business matters are sent directly to the applicable business. Correspondence of other types is not forwarded to the board but held by the Secretary and made available to any director who wishes to see it.

Shareholders and other interested parties who wish to send anonymous and confidential correspondence to the board may do so through our EnTegrity Assistance Line. The line is staffed by an independent third party who is responsible for receiving and forwarding messages on the line. Instructions for using the line are available under the "Corporate Governance" link accessed from the "For Investors" link on our website at *www.enproindustries.com*. Items addressed to the board of directors are forwarded to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, a

non-management director. Items not addressed specifically to the board of directors are forwarded to our Director of Internal Audit, who reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and is a member of our internal Corporate Compliance Committee. The Director of Internal Audit periodically updates the Audit and Risk Management Committee about the investigation and resolution of all reports alleging financial and other types of misconduct.

# **Director compensation**

Our non-employee directors received the following compensation for 2018:

- •an annual cash retainer of \$80,000; and
- •an annual grant of phantom shares equal in value to approximately \$95,000.

Additional cash compensation is paid to:

- •the chairman of our Compensation and Human Resources Committee, who receives an annual fee of \$15,000;
- •the chairman of our Audit and Risk Management Committee, who receives an annual fee of \$20,000;
- •the chairman of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, who receives an annual fee of \$10,000; and
- •our Chairman, who receives an additional annual fee of \$50,000 for his service in that capacity.

Compensation is prorated for service in any of these capacities for a portion of the year. In addition, each director may be granted phantom shares upon his or her initial election to the board. The amount of such an award is determined by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and has generally been based on the number of days remaining in the year that the director is elected.

Employee directors receive no compensation for serving on our board.

We periodically review benchmarking studies to evaluate the amount and form of compensation paid to non-employee directors relative to the compensation paid to non-employee directors of peer companies. Based on this evaluation and our analysis of the service required of our non-employee

directors, we believe that the compensation paid to our non-employee directors is reasonable.

Non-employee directors are generally granted phantom shares at the first meeting of the Compensation Committee each year. Phantom shares are fully vested when awarded and are paid in shares of common stock when a director ceases his or her service on the board.

Board members are required to own the company's stock. Each director has five years from the date he or she joins the board to accumulate EnPro shares equal in value to at least five times the annual cash retainer paid to directors. Phantom shares count toward this requirement. We examine compliance with this policy each February. As of February 13, 2019, all of the directors complied with this requirement.

A Deferred Compensation Plan allows non-employee directors to defer receipt of all or part of the cash portion of their annual retainer fees. The deferred portions of the fees can be directed to a cash account or a stock account. Fees deferred into a cash account are credited with a return based on an investment option chosen by the director from those available under our Retirement Savings Plan for Salaried Employees (excluding our common stock). Fees deferred into a stock account are credited with stock units, each equal in value to the fair market value of one share of our common stock on a given date. All amounts deferred are payable after a director ceases his or her service on the board. As of December 31, 2018, the following directors had deferred compensation balances under the plan:

Mr. Botts, 2,734 stock units; Mr. Brueck, 6,241 stock units; Mr. Hauser, \$928,303 and 7,903 stock units; and Mr. Humphrey, 2,180 stock units.

The following table presents the compensation we paid to all non-employee directors for their service in 2018.

# **2018 Non-Employee Director Compensation**

Name (a)	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$) (1) (b)	Stock Awards (\$) (2) (c)	All Other Compensation (\$) (3) (g)	Total (\$) (h)
Thomas M. Botts	95,000	94,997	9,802	199,799
Felix M. Brueck	80,000	94,997	7,112	182,109
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.	100,000	94,997	10,875	205,872
Diane C. Creel	80,000	94,997	15,853	190,850
Adele M. Gulfo	13,696	16,424	59	30,179
David L. Hauser	140,000	94,997	22,808	257,805
John Humphrey	80,000	94,997	4,478	179,475
Kees van der Graaf	80,000	94,997	10,163	185,160

(1)Messrs. Brueck, Hauser and Humphrey deferred \$80,000, \$140,000 and \$80,000, respectively, of the fees earned in 2018 pursuant to our Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Of these amounts, Messrs. Brueck and Humphrey each elected to defer \$80,000, into a stock account and as a result an aggregate of 1,151 stock units, individually, were credited to each of them under our Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. The grant date fair value of such stock units is equal to the dollar amount of the fees deferred into the stock account. Mr. Hauser elected to defer \$140,000 into a cash account.

(2)On February 12, 2018, each director then serving as non-employee member of the board received a grant of 1,176 phantom shares to be settled in shares of common stock. The stated value is based on the closing price of our common stock on the immediately preceding trading date, which was \$80.78 per share. On October 30, 2018, Ms. Gulfo received a pro rata grant of 284 phantom shares to be settled in shares of common stock, with a stated value based on the closing price of our common stock on the immediately preceding trading date, which was \$57.83 per share. As of December 31, 2018, the non-employee directors held the following numbers of phantom shares, including phantom shares to be settled in cash:

Director	Number of Phantom Shares			
Thomas M. Botts	10,275			
Felix M. Brueck	7,537			
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.	11,423			
Diane C. Creel	16,588			
Adele M. Gulfo	285			
David L. Hauser	23,951			
John Humphrey	4,740			
Kees van der Graaf	10,659			

(3)Such amounts equal the aggregate grant date fair value of phantom shares to be settled in shares of common stock issued pursuant to the dividend equivalent rights provisions of previously granted awards of phantom shares to be settled in shares of common stock with respect to dividends paid on our common stock in 2018. The grant date fair value of each such dividend equivalent issuance is equal (subject to rounding of the number of phantom shares issued) to the cash dividend payable on the number of shares of our common stock equal to such director's aggregate number of phantom shares to be settled in shares of common stock held as of the record date for the payment of such dividend.

At its February 2019 meeting, the board of directors approved the following changes to the compensation for non-employee directors:

- •the annual cash retainer was increased to \$90,000; and
- •the value of the annual grant of phantom shares was increased to \$110,000.

These changes are effective for compensation paid following the February 2019 board meeting.

# Audit Committee report

The Audit Committee oversees the quality and integrity of our financial reporting processes and our internal accounting controls. Management prepares our financial statements and establishes and maintains adequate internal control over financial reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm performs an independent integrated audit of those financial statements and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has met and discussed with management and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, our audited 2018 consolidated financial statements and our internal control over financial reporting. In meeting with the Audit Committee, management informed the committee that our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018. The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements and our system of internal control over financial reporting with management and PricewaterhouseCoopers.

In addition, the Audit Committee:

- •discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditing Standard No.1301, *Communications with Audit Committees*, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board,
- received the written disclosures and the letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers relating to the firm's independence required by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, and
- •confirmed with PricewaterhouseCoopers the firm's independence from us.

The Audit Committee also discussed with our internal auditors and PricewaterhouseCoopers the overall scope and plans for their respective 2018 audits. With and without the presence of management, the Audit Committee met with the internal auditors and PricewaterhouseCoopers to discuss the results of their examinations, the evaluations of our internal control over financial reporting, and the overall quality of our financial reporting.

Relying on its discussions with management and PricewaterhouseCoopers and its review of management's representation and the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers to it, the Audit Committee recommended that the board of directors include our audited consolidated financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 to be filed with the SEC.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

Thomas M. Botts
Felix M. Brueck
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.
Diane C. Creel
Adele M. Gulfo
David L. Hauser
John Humphrey
Kees van der Graaf

February 12, 2019

Compensation and Human Resources Committee report on executive compensation

The Compensation and Human Resources Committee develops and oversees the implementation of our compensation philosophy and strategy. The committee assists the board of directors by monitoring the appropriateness and cost of our compensation and benefit programs, particularly for the CEO and the other senior executives.

The section entitled "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" explains the material elements of our compensation program and provides an analysis of the material factors underlying the committee's compensation policies and decisions. The committee has reviewed and discussed the section with management, and recommended to our board of directors that it be included in this proxy statement and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Compensation and Human Resources Committee

Thomas M. Botts
Felix M. Brueck
B. Bernard Burns, Jr.
Diane C. Creel
Adele M. Gulfo
David L. Hauser
John Humphrey
Kees van der Graaf

February 12, 2019

# Compensation discussion and analysis

This compensation discussion and analysis provides information about our 2018 compensation program for our named executive officers or NEOs. For 2018, those officers are:

- •Stephen E. Macadam, President and Chief Executive Officer (and principal executive officer);
- •J. Milton Childress II, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (and principal financial officer);
- •Marvin A. Riley, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer;
- •Robert S. McLean, Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary; and
- •William C. O'Neal, Senior Vice President, Strategy, Corporate Development and Investor Relations.

Our Compensation and Human Resources Committee (which we refer to in this "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section as the "Committee") and our board of directors determine executive compensation based on a comprehensive view of factors designed to produce long-term business success. The objectives of our executive officer compensation programs are to attract, motivate and retain key executives who will drive our success. Our pay practices reward these executives for superior performance and align their interests with the long-term interests of our shareholders.

We achieve our objectives through compensation that:

- •is tied to business performance. A substantial portion of each executive officer's total compensation opportunity is based on our financial results—disappointing performance results in little or no payout while superior performance leads to superior payouts—and the portion of compensation based on our financial performance increases with the officer's level of responsibility;
- •is significantly stock-based. Stock-based compensation ensures our executives and our shareholders have common interests;
- •enhances retention of our executives. Much of their total compensation vests over several years;
- •links a significant portion of their total pay to the execution of strategies intended to create long-term shareholder value;
- •enables us to compete effectively for talented individuals who will help us successfully execute our business plan; and
- •does not encourage our executives to take unnecessary or excessive risks.

The following charts show the relative portion of our CEO's total 2018 target in-service compensation and the average target in-service compensation of the other NEOs serving as executive officers as of the date of this proxy statement. Target in-service compensation consists of base salary paid in 2018, target annual performance-based cash compensation awards made in 2018, target long-term incentive performance-based cash and equity compensation awarded in 2018, other long-term equity compensation in the form of restricted stock units awarded in 2018 and other compensation not related to changes in retirement benefits.

# **CEO Target In-service Compensation**

Other NEOs Average Target In-service Compensation

In structuring annual and long-term incentive compensation opportunities, we select performance measures that we believe significantly drive the value of our company. For 2018, we selected a combination of incentive performance measures that focus on driving operating earnings and rewarding the appropriate use of capital, and include a relative shareholder return measure to evaluate our performance relative to a peer group. We set goals against these measures and make little or no payment for poor

performance against our goals, though our executives can earn significant payment relative to their salary levels for superior performance against them. We make annual awards of restricted stock units which vest after three years, both to encourage retention and to provide an incentive for performance to increase the value of our shares.

The following table summarizes the key elements of our 2018 executive compensation program:

Pay Element	Primary Purpose	<b>Key Characteristics</b>
Base Salary	To compensate the executive fairly and equitably compared to their external market peers.	Fixed compensation that is reviewed annually.
Annual Performance- Based Incentive Awards	To motivate and reward organizational achievement against our strategic growth initiatives.	Variable compensation component; based on pre-established company goals relating to Adjusted EBITDA and Return on Invested Capital (ROIC).
	To align executives' short term decisions with annual earnings growth and ensure effective capital deployment and working capital management objectives.	Corporate executives are measured against companywide achievement.
Long-Term Awards	To align executives with shareholder interests, to reinforce long-term value creation, and to provide a retention incentive.	Variable compensation component. Reviewed and granted annually. Long-term grants are split equally between long-term incentive plan ("LTIP") awards payable in cash (33%), LTIP awards payable in common stock (33%) and restricted stock units (33%).
LTIP Performance Cash	To motivate and reward effective capital deployment, earnings growth, effective PP&E spend and working capital management, and effective merger & acquisition spend and performance.	Grants based on three-year ROIC achievement compared to targets averaged over the performance period.
LTIP Performance Stock	To motivate executives by tying incentives to our multi-year financial goals and relative total shareholder return ("rTSR") driving effective decision making and reinforcing the link between our executive officers and our shareholders.	Grants based on three-year rTSR measured against performance relative to peers.
Restricted Stock Units	To motivate the appropriate behaviors delivering superior long-term total	Stock price growth and retention. Awards are subject to continued employment throughout

shareholder return. Also promotes a base-level of executive retention.

the three-year period, with pro rata vesting upon retirement. No vesting upon a change of control if the awards are assumed by the acquiror.

Health/Welfare Plan and

Retirement/Deferral Benefits

To provide competitive benefits promoting employee health and productivity and supporting financial security.

Fixed compensation component.

Perquisites and Other Benefits To assist in attracting and retaining executive officers by providing minimal perquisites in general, but with limited additional perquisites.

Fixed compensation component.

**Change-in-Control Protection** 

To provide continuity of management and bridge future employment if terminated in connection with a change-in-control.

Fixed compensation component; only paid in the event employment is terminated other than "for cause" or for "good reason", in either case, in connection with a change in control.

# Summary of business highlights

In 2018, we continued to pursue our long-term objectives for profitable growth by strategically investing to organically grow our businesses through investments in commercial excellence, operations, and innovation. Despite experiencing, and addressing, challenges in our heavy-duty trucks business in 2018, we experienced strong year-over-year sales growth across each of our three segments and our performance, based on adjusted EBITDA, improved from the prior year.

Continued Growth. In 2018, we experienced positive demand levels and increased activity in many of our markets. In our Sealing Products segment, we experienced strong demand in the semiconductor, food and pharmaceutical, general industrial, aerospace, metals & mining, and heavy-duty truck OE end markets. Positive market momentum in these markets was partially offset by continued softness in the industrial gas turbines market, which led to our decision to exit our facility servicing that market. In our Engineered Products segment, we benefited from strong demand in the oil and gas and general industrial markets. In our Power Systems segment, engine and aftermarket demand increased compared to 2017.

**Acquisitions.** We continue to pursue strategic acquisition opportunities in a number of markets, including the semiconductor, food and pharmaceutical, and aerospace markets. We did not complete any acquisitions during the year due to a variety of factors, including currently elevated market valuations and value-impacting diligence findings.

*Dividends and share repurchases.* In 2018, we continued our quarterly dividend payments to shareholders, and increased the quarterly dividend in the first quarter from \$0.22 to \$0.24 per share. In addition, we continued our efforts to return capital to our shareholders by repurchasing

shares under the \$50 million share repurchase program authorized in 2017, which we completed during the third quarter of this year. Through the duration of the program, 665,984 shares were repurchased.

Our Board of Directors authorized a new share repurchase program in the fourth quarter. Under the new share repurchase program, our company can repurchase up to \$50 million of its common shares over a two year period of time beginning on October 31, 2018. Through the end of the fourth quarter, we had not yet made any share repurchases under the new program.

We regularly evaluate our capital allocation strategy based on company performance and anticipated capital requirements for growth, and we will continue this practice in 2019.

Cash collections related to the asbestos claims resolution process. In 2018, we received a \$97 million tax refund related to the funding of the trust that was established at the conclusion of the asbestos claims resolution process (ACRP) in July 2017. An additional \$36 million tax refund remains outstanding and is expected to be received in 2019. We collected \$30 million of insurance receivables related to the ACRP during 2018. \$12.6 million of insurance receivables remain outstanding, of which we expect to collect \$10.1 million in 2019.

*Capital structure.* In October, we closed an offering of \$350 million 5.75% senior notes due 2026, and on October 31, 2018, the preexisting \$450 million 5.875% senior notes due 2022 were redeemed in full. In addition to lowering the fixed interest rate and extending the tenor by an additional four years, the new issuance provides greater flexibility to pay down debt and more favorable indenture provisions.

# Shareholder engagement

Throughout the course of each year, we speak with numerous shareholders, including frequent conversations with many of our largest shareholders. These conversations cover a wide range of topics, including our strategic direction, financial performance, future growth opportunities, capital allocation strategy, and management practices. During these conversations in 2018, our shareholders generally supported our compensation practices and policies. We did receive constructive feedback, which was communicated to the Committee.

At our 2018 annual meeting, we asked our shareholders to support a non-binding resolution to approve the compensation paid to our named executive officers as reported in our proxy statement for that meeting. Of the shares voted "for" or "against" that proposal, over 95% of the shares were voted "for" approval of that resolution. The Committee typically establishes incentive compensation opportunities each February. While the May 2018 shareholder vote occurred after the structure for the 2018 compensation awards had been set by the Committee, the 2018 shareholder vote was considered by the Committee in determining the compensation program for 2019.

# **Compensation practices**

All of our non-management directors sit on our Compensation and Human Resources Committee. The primary function delegated to the Committee by our board is overseeing the appropriateness and cost of our compensation programs, particularly the program for executive officers.

## The role of the executive officers

Certain members of our senior management team help prepare for and attend meetings where executive compensation, company performance targets, and competitive compensation levels and practices are discussed and evaluated. However, only the Committee members are allowed to vote on decisions regarding executive compensation. The Committee also receives recommendations from our CEO regarding the compensation of our other officers, including the other NEOs. Our CEO does not participate in the deliberations of the Committee and Board regarding his own compensation.

# The role of the independent executive compensation consultant

The Committee engages an independent compensation consultant to provide expertise on competitive pay

practices and compensation program design and an objective assessment of any inherent risks of any compensation programs. Pursuant to the authority granted to it under its charter, the Committee has retained Pearl Meyer as its independent consultant. Pearl Meyer reports directly to the Committee and does not provide additional services to management. The Committee has conducted an independence assessment of Pearl Meyer in accordance with SEC rules, NYSE listing standards, and the requirements of the Committee's charter, and has determined that work performed by Pearl Meyer does not create a conflict of interest and that Pearl Meyer is independent.

#### Tax deductibility considerations

The tax reform legislation enacted in December 2017 eliminated the performance-based exception for new awards from the \$1.0 million deductibility limitation of compensation paid to named executive officers. While the Committee continued to use performance-based compensation arrangements for awards to the NEOs made in 2018, that incentive compensation will no longer be excepted from the limitation on deductibility for federal income tax purposes.

## Compensation program design

To design an executive compensation program that is in line with the policies described below, the Committee considered:

- •the executive compensation and market competitiveness studies described below;
- •internal pay fairness;
- •comprehensive compensation histories for each of our executive officers which include each element of compensation and benefits (salary, incentive awards, equity grants, retirement benefits, and possible severance or change in control payments);

- •the impact of tax and accounting rules;
- whether the structure of our compensation programs creates an incentive for taking excessive risk; and
- •trends affecting the company's markets.

When setting targeted in-service compensation for each of our executive officers, the Committee considers individual performance, experience and tenure. In evaluating the reasonableness and competitiveness of targeted in-service compensation, the Committee reviews compensation data for a broad survey group and for a peer group prepared by its independent executive compensation consultant.

The following table highlights key features of our executive compensation program. We also identify certain compensation practices that the Committee has not implemented because it does not believe they would serve our shareholders' long-term interests.

#### What we do

We make variable, performance-based compensation a significant component of each executive officer's total compensation and increase the proportion of variable compensation to total compensation as levels of responsibility increase.

We balance short-term and long-term compensation to discourage short-term risk-taking at the expense of improvement in long-term results.

We require meaningful stock ownership and retention at levels that increase with responsibility.

We have implemented a one-year holding requirement for net after-tax shares earned under our long-term incentive awards payable in stock.

We use a performance measure relative to the performance for comparable companies for our long-term incentive awards payable in stock.

*The Committee uses an independent executive compensation consultant* which reports directly to the Committee and does not provide any other services to our company.

We have a clawback policy for the recovery of performance-based compensation in the event of executive officer misconduct related to our financial results.

What we don't do

- X We do not permit hedging transactions on our stock.
- X We do not vest time-based equity awards in less than three years.
- X We do not re-price stock options without shareholder approval or permit discounted stock options.

Stock ownership and retention requirements

Each executive officer is required by policy to hold shares of our common stock with a market value at least equal to a specific multiple of the officer's base salary. The multiple increases with the officer's level of responsibility. The minimum ownership required for our CEO is 5.0 times base salary; for all other NEOs, the minimum is 2.5 times base salary. Minimum levels for the other executive officers range from 0.75 times to 1.5 times base salary. In light of this policy, the Committee believes it is appropriate to provide officers with an opportunity to earn shares as part of their long-term incentive awards.

Once named an executive officer, an individual has five years to reach the minimum stock ownership requirement for his or her position. An executive officer who fails to maintain the required level of ownership must retain 50% of any shares received under any company equity award plan until he or she satisfies the requirement. Restricted shares of our common stock and restricted stock units count toward minimum ownership only after the restrictions lapse.

We check for compliance with this policy in connection with our board of directors meeting held each February. As of the date of the Committee's February 2019 meeting, all of our current named executive officers who have been executive officers for at least five years held at least the minimum number of shares.

# Annual compensation decisions

We generally make compensation decisions and grant equity and other compensation awards only on an annual basis. We make interim adjustments and awards only in unusual circumstances, such as in connection with a material change in an executive officer's responsibilities.

# Anti-hedging policy

Our policies prohibit employees, officers and directors from using the company's securities in any hedging or monetization transactions. The prohibition includes but is not limited to, the use of financial instruments such as exchange funds, prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, puts, calls, collars, forwards and other derivative instruments, or through the establishment of a short position in the company's securities.

## Pledging policy

Our policies prohibit executive officers from pledging EnPro shares that they own as collateral, including holding EnPro shares in a margin account, unless the officer holds unpledged shares at least equal to the amount required under our stock ownership and retention policy and receives pre-approval of the pledge from our General Counsel. Under our policies, a pledge may not be approved unless the officer clearly demonstrates the financial capacity to repay the loan or obligation secured by the pledge without resorting to the pledged shares. Mr. Macadam has pledged 100,000 shares to secure a managed trading program with respect to a broad securities index that does not include any EnPro securities. This pledge transaction was approved in advance in accordance with our policy.

## Clawback policy

Our clawback policy allows the company to recover performance-based compensation from any executive officer who engages in fraud or willful misconduct that requires us to restate our financial results. Under the policy, we are entitled to recover cash awards made under our annual incentive performance plan and cash or equity-based incentive awards made under our long-term incentive performance plan. If the Committee determines the compensation would have been lower if it had been based on the restated results, it will, to the extent permitted by law,

seek to recover from the executive officer all performance-based compensation it deems appropriate after a review of all relevant facts and circumstances.

## Market competitiveness analyses

In evaluating target compensation levels, the Committee has requested its independent executive compensation consultant, Pearl Meyer, to prepare benchmarking studies. These studies have been prepared and presented to the Committee every two years. The most recent study presented to the Committee, prior to the compensation decisions it made in February 2018, was prepared in October 2016.

In its benchmarking studies, Pearl Meyer compared the specific compensation elements we awarded to each of our executive officers to those awarded to executive officers with similar responsibilities of each member of the peer group and the broader survey group and to the relevant medians of the peer group and survey group. Based on its analysis, Pearl Meyer advised the Committee on adjustments to base salary, annual incentive award and long-term incentive awards for each named executive officer. Peer and survey compensation data allow the Committee to determine whether our compensation programs and target compensation levels for executive officers are reasonable and competitive.

At the direction of the Committee, Pearl Meyer screened and reviewed companies included in Standard & Poor's Global Industry Classification Standard Capital Goods industry classification, reviewed the peer groups included in the 2016 reports of certain principal proxy advisory firms, and conducted an analysis to identify potential peer companies, evaluating comparability in terms of sales, business mix alignment, and market value. The peer group selected by the Committee for the 2016 study, consistent with Pearl Meyer's recommendation following its analysis, was as follows:

•Actuant Corporation •Barnes Group, Inc.

•Circor International, Inc. •Clarcor, Inc.

Crane Co.
 Graco Inc.
 Nordson Corporation
 TriMas Corporation

•Mueller Water•Watts WaterProducts, Inc.Technologies, Inc.

•Woodward, Inc.

Annual revenues of the peer companies ranged from \$621 million to \$2.7 billion, with median revenues of \$1.4 billion. The market capitalization of the peer companies at the time of the study ranged from \$858 million to \$7.0 billion, with median market capitalization of \$3.1 billion. After completion of this study, Clarcor, Inc. was acquired by Parker-Hannifin Corporation.

For executive compensation purposes, we believe a comparison of the relative size and complexity of a company is more important than a comparison of specific products manufactured. These are the types of companies with whom we compete for management personnel and therefore we believe it is appropriate for us to compare our compensation practices with theirs.

# Evaluation of incentives for excessive risk

To discourage excessive risk, the Committee seeks to balance:

- •fixed and variable compensation,
- •short-term and long-term compensation,
- •the performance measures used to determine incentive compensation, and
- •the level of in-service and post-retirement benefits.

The Committee has specifically evaluated the company's compensation structure and practices and concluded that they do not establish incentives for unnecessary or excessive risk.

## **Compensation analysis**

The following section discusses and analyzes each element of our executive compensation program.

## Base salary

Base salaries give our officers a relatively secure level of compensation. Adjustments to base salary rates typically are made in February of each year and are effective on or about April 1, though mid-year adjustments may be made in the event of promotion or other special circumstance. In February 2018, the Committee increased Mr. Macadam's base salary rate by 1.4%. In February 2018, the Committee also adjusted the base salary rates of the other named executive officers in 2018 from the levels paid in 2017. These increases averaged 4.2%, with individual increases ranging from 2.9% to 6.1%. In April 2018, the Committee

further increased Mr. Riley's base salary an additional 11% in connection with the transition of his responsibilities as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer.

#### Annual performance incentive plan awards

The plan used by the Committee to make annual incentive compensation awards is designed to give executive officers a personal financial incentive to help us reach annual business goals. We refer to this plan as the annual performance plan.

The amount of awards paid under our annual performance plan is based on performance relative to threshold, target and maximum performance levels set when the awards are made. When performance falls below the threshold, executives receive no payout. Payouts at a threshold level of performance are 50% of the target payout, payouts at a

target level of performance are 100% of the target payout, and payouts at a maximum level of performance are at 200% of the target payout. Performance between any of the established levels yields a proportional payout. The Committee, after reviewing the company's performance in 2018, was permitted to adjust amounts payable under the awards in its discretion.

For 2018, the performance measures and weightings for the annual performance plan were:

Adjusted EBITDA 50%

Adjusted return on invested capital 50%

Why we use adjusted EBITDA and adjusted return on invested capital to measure performance

The Committee selected these performance measures because they are the critical measures we use internally in managing our businesses and are measures of

our profitability and the performance of our assets relative to our investment. The Committee believes that performance against these measures significantly drive the value of our company. The Committee believes that the adjustments to EBITDA (or, earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and amortization expenses) and return on invested capital permit a more accurate measure of the operating performance of our businesses. In selecting these performance measures, setting the performance goals and awarding the corresponding incentive opportunities, the Committee took into account management's recommendations.

#### Financial goals for 2018

The following table presents the 2018 financial goals set for the annual performance plan. The table shows goals for threshold, target and maximum performance levels, actual 2018 performance and weighted payout percentages for each goal.

	<b>Performance Levels</b>			<b>Actual Performance</b>	
(dollars in millions)	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Amount	Weighted Payout %
Adjusted EBITDA(1)	\$195.0	\$224.2	\$254.5	\$227.2	54.9%
Adjusted return on invested capital(1)	16.1%	18.2%	20.3%	18.4%	54.7%

(1)Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adding interest, income tax, depreciation and amortization expenses to earnings and further adding certain selected expenses that the Committee believes do not reflect normal operating conditions, subtracting certain selected income items that the Committee believes do not reflect normal operating conditions and adjusting for the translation impact of foreign currency exchange. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated in a manner consistent with adjusted EBITDA as presented by the company in its quarterly and annual earnings announcements. The calculation of adjusted return on invested capital is based on adjusted operating income, which includes the same adjustments to EBITDA in determining adjusted EBITDA, as described above, and also reflects the impact of depreciation and amortization. Adjusted return on invested capital is calculated by taking adjusted operating income multiplied by the difference between 1 minus the tax rate (expressed as a fraction) then adding depreciation and amortization expense, with such amount then divided by the sum of average working capital, average gross property,

plant and equipment and average gross software investment. Corporate administrative expenses are subtracted from the sum of the operating segments' adjusted operating income. The Committee believes adjusted return on invested capital comprehensively measures the performance of our assets relative to our investment and fairly measures our ability to generate earnings in relation to the investment required to generate those earnings. Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted operating income and adjusted return on invested capital are not financial measures under generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").

The plan payouts at the target performance level, as a percentage of base salary, and the actual payout as a percentage of salary for the named executive officers were as follows:

Target Payout, as Percentage of Salary	• ′
105%	115%
70%	76%
70%	76%
55%	60%
45%	49%
	Percentage of Salary 105% 70% 70% 55%

Target award levels set by the Committee for the named executive officers were based on historical award levels, a review of the Pearl Meyer market studies and management recommendations.

To set 2018 performance levels, the Committee reviewed a top-down estimate of our performance for the year based on management's expectations for each of our markets and a bottom-up review of each division's strategy and forecast for its performance. The Committee evaluated these internal estimates against external expectations for the performance of our markets and then set our goals for the year, with target performance levels considered to be stretch goals.

When 2018 operating performance goals were set, we anticipated favorable conditions in most of our markets to continue following a strong 2017 with the notable exception of the industrial gas turbine market, which we expected to continue to decline. We also anticipated growing commodity cost pressures due in part to uncertainty over global tariffs. In addition, while we entered the year with a strong engine backlog in our Power Systems segment, we had concerns over flat military marine parts orders and the impact of the zero-profit multi-year contractual arrangement with Electricité de France ("EDF").

The 2018 target corporate performance levels reflected year-over-year growth in EBITDA of approximately 3.1% compared to actual 2017 results. On an adjusted basis, to neutralize the effect of (1) currency differences between average rates during 2017 and rates at the end of 2017, (2) the 2017 acquisitions of Qualiseal and CVC, (3) the 2017 EDF gain related solely to the weakening U.S. dollar relative to the euro, and (4) two legal settlements in 2017, the 2018 target performance level reflected EBITDA growth of approximately 6.7%.

Our 2018 results benefitted from stronger than expected results in our Engineered Products and Power Systems segments driven by the commercial and manufacturing initiatives that were executed throughout the year, continued strength in petrochemical, general industrial and automotive markets, and engine parts and service revenues that significantly exceeded expectations coming into the year. The strong performance in our Engineered Products and Power Systems segments was partially offset by performance in our Sealing Products segment related to worsening conditions in the industrial gas turbine market and challenges in our heavy-duty trucking brake products business.

As a result, we achieved performance above the target levels. Our overall adjusted EBITDA was \$227.2 million (between the target and maximum levels) and our overall adjusted return on invested capital was 18.4% (also between the target and maximum levels).

Accordingly, based on the payout levels established by the Committee for the annual performance plan, the named executive officers received payouts of 109.6% of the target level.

The dollar amount of these payouts under the annual performance plan to each of the named executive officers is included in column (g) (see footnote 2) of the summary compensation table.

#### Long-term compensation

Awards made for 2016-2018 cycle

Long-term compensation grants to our executive officers provide them with personal financial motivation and a stake in our long-term success. The Committee believes these awards also help us retain executives who are committed to achieving our corporate goals. In 2016, the target level of our long-term compensation awards was generally split equally in three separate awards:

- •long-term incentive compensation payable in stock;
- •long-term incentive compensation payable in cash; and
- •restricted stock units with time-based vesting.

In addition, restricted stock unit awards were made to executive officers who elected to participate in our management stock purchase deferral plan described below (see "—Retirement and other post-termination compensation—Deferred compensation and management stock plans").

The Committee believes that both long-term incentive compensation awards ("LTIP awards") payable in cash and payable in stock serve to align our officers' long-term interests with those of our shareholders. The award of a substantial portion of long-term compensation in the form of time-vested restricted stock units helps to ensure retention of these executives.

The amount of cash for a cash LTIP award and the number of shares for a stock LTIP award payable under the award are based on our performance against selected financial goals over a three-year period. For our LTIP award opportunities, the Committee set threshold, target and maximum levels. Performance below the threshold level results in no payout, performance at the threshold level results in a payout at one-half of the amount at the target level, and performance at the maximum level or above results in a payout of twice the amount set for the target level. We extrapolate to determine the payout for performance between these levels. Performance levels are adjusted to account for dispositions, acquisitions and other corporate restructuring transactions.

Payments under 2016 LTIP awards payable in cash were based on our adjusted return on invested capital over the three-year (2016-2018) performance period against threshold, target and maximum levels established when the awards were granted. In contrast to our use of adjusted return on invested capital under our annual performance plan, for these awards this return on invested capital measure includes goodwill and other intangible assets.

The number of shares to be issued under the LTIP awards payable in stock was based on our total shareholder return (or TSR) over the same three-year period relative to TSR of the S&P SmallCap 600 Capital Goods (Industry Group) Index over that period. EnPro is one of the companies included in this index. Payment at 50% of the target level of these awards would occur if our TSR relative to the TSR of the index was at the 35th percentile, with target payments at the 50th percentile and payments at 200% of the target level at the 75th percentile. The LTIP awards limit the payout to the target level in the event that absolute TSR is negative and require recipients to hold the net after-tax shares issued at the end of the three-year performance period for an additional year.

Restricted stock units further our goals of aligning officers' long-term interests with those of our shareholders and increasing management's ownership stake in our company. They vest three years after the date of grant subject to the executive's continued employment during that period. In the event of death, disability or a change in control of the company, they vest earlier. In the event of an executive's retirement, the restricted stock units vest pro rata based on the number of months he or she was employed after the grant date through the retirement date compared to the scheduled 36-month period.

The LTIP awards and restricted stock units awards provide that, if the resulting entity in a change in control assumes the awards, the awards will vest early in connection with a change in control only if within two years after the change in control the employee is terminated without "cause" or the employee resigns for "good reason," as such terms are defined in the awards.

The following table shows goals for threshold, target and maximum performance levels, actual performance and payout percentages for the LTIP awards payable in cash based on adjusted return on invested capital and LTIP awards payable in stock based on relative TSR percentile:

Award Type	<b>Performance Measure</b>	<b>Performance Levels</b>			<b>Actual Performance</b>		
(dollars in millions)		Threshold	Target	Maximum	Amount	Payout %	
Cash LTIP	Adjusted return on invested capital	9.2%	10.2%	11.2%	10.0%	90.0%	
Stock LTIP	Relative TSR	35.0%	50.0%	75.0%	60.7%	142.8%	

The following table sets forth for each named executive officer the payout amount for the LTIP award payable in cash and the LTIP award payable in shares of stock for the 2016-2018 performance period:

# **Actual Payout**

# Cash LTIP Stock LTIP

Macadam	\$630,000	22,550
Childress	\$140,421	5,025
Riley	\$79,042	2,829
McLean	\$91,473	3,275
O'Neal	\$36,632	1,312

When the ROIC target for the 2016-2018 performance period was established, we anticipated a recovery in global industrial markets following challenging conditions in 2015, particularly in oil and gas and metals and mining. In 2016, the adverse trends deepened, and nearly all of the markets we served saw negative year-over-year trends. In 2017 and 2018, we benefitted from a recovery in many of the global industrial markets we serve and from the cost-savings, commercial and manufacturing initiatives that were executed in those years. These benefits were partially offset by challenging conditions in the industrial gas turbine market in both 2017 and 2018, and by performance in our heavy-duty trucking brake products business in 2018. While we saw year-over-year improvements in ROIC in both 2017 and 2018, performance for the three-year period was challenged by the unanticipated headwinds early in the period.

As a result, we achieved performance slightly below the targeted level for the cash LTIP awards, resulting in the named executive officers receiving payouts of 90.0% of the target level.

Our TSR over the three-year period relative to TSR of the S&P SmallCap 600 Capital Goods (Industry Group) Index was at the 60.7th percentile, between the target and maximum performance levels for our stock LTIP awards. The price of our common stock over that period benefitted

from a number of factors, including principally the successful completion of the ACRP over that period, including agreements reached for the settlement of the ACRP in 2016 and consummation of the plan of reorganization to resolve

the ACRP in July 2017. As a result, the named executive officers receiving payouts on their stock LTIP awards at 142.8% of the target level.

The dollar amount of the cash LTIP payout to each of the named executive officers is included in column (g) (see footnote 2) of the summary compensation table for the respective year. The value at December 31, 2018 of the restricted stock units that were awarded in 2016 and vested in 2019 is included in the table in "Executive compensation—Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year end."

#### Awards granted in 2018

The target level of our long-term compensation awards made in February 2018 was generally split equally among LTIP awards payable in cash, LTIP awards payable in stock and restricted stock units with time-based vesting. These awards were in form substantially identical to the long-term compensation awards granted in 2016 as described above, with updated performance goals for the LTIP awards payable in cash. The Committee further authorized an additional award of 7,500 restricted stock units to Mr. Riley in May 2018 in connection with the full transition of his responsibilities to the role of Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer.

The following table sets forth for each named executive officer, the payout amount at target level of performance for the LTIP award payable in cash and the LTIP award payable in stock, along with the number of restricted stock units awarded in 2018. No additional restricted stock unit awards were made in 2018 related to our management stock purchase deferral plan as the Committee had terminated any further participation in that plan prior to 2018.

	Target Payo	out	Restricted
	Cash LTIP	Stock LTIP	<b>Stock Units</b>
Macadam	\$900,060	11,141	11,141
Childress	\$168,740	2,090	2,090
Riley	\$140,055	1,734	9,234
McLean	\$108,779	1,347	1,347
O'Neal	\$ 50,437	624	624

The grant date fair value of the target level payout of LTIP awards payable in stock made in 2018 and the grant date fair value of the restricted stock units awarded in 2018, in each case as determined under FASB ASC Topic 718, are included in column (e) (see footnote 1) of the summary compensation table and in column (l) of the table in "Executive compensation—Grants of plan-based awards."

# **Perquisites**

Since February 2006, we have provided only minimal perks, which include an umbrella liability policy, to our executive officers. In 2018, in connection with Mr. Riley's transition as our Chief Operating Officer, we provided him with the use of a corporate apartment in Charlotte and a leased vehicle for use while he is in Charlotte.

### Other in-service benefits

Our executive officers also receive the following benefits, which we provide to all salaried employees as compensation for their services to us:

- •group health, dental and life insurance, part of the cost of which we pay;
- •optional term life, accidental death and disability insurance and long-term disability insurance, the cost of which the employee pays; and
- •travel and accident insurance, for which we pay.

We provide these insurance benefits because we believe they are standard parts of the compensation package available to salaried employees at companies of our size.

#### Retirement and other post-termination compensation

401(k) Plan

Our executive officers participate in our 401(k) plan on the same basis as other salaried employees. Under this plan, a portion of each participant's compensation eligible for the plan (generally base-salary and annual incentive compensation) can be deferred into a 401(k) account, up to the annual limit set by the IRS. Each participant directs investments in the account. We match 100% of deferrals under this plan (other than catch-up contributions) up to the first 6% of the aggregate of annual salary and annual incentive compensation contributed by the participant. Our matching contributions are fully vested.

Deferred compensation and management stock plans

Our non-qualified, deferred compensation plan permits our executive officers to save for retirement on a tax-deferred basis beyond what is permitted under the 401(k) plan because of either federal tax code limits or the design of the 401(k) plan. In addition, this plan allows for matching contributions that cannot be made in the 401(k) plan because of federal tax code limits. These contributions are made at the same rate and are subject to the same aggregate limit as the 401(k) plan. The Committee believes this type of additional deferral and matching opportunity is an appropriate and customary component of a competitive compensation package for public company executive officers.

Our management stock purchase deferral plan permitted officers and other senior personnel to defer, for five years or more, up to 50% of annual incentive compensation. Deferred amounts were credited to these individual's accounts based on the value of our common stock, with the payout at the end of the deferral period being based on the then-value of our common stock. Participants were eligible to receive awards of restricted stock units equal to 25% of the amount of compensation deferred. We closed this plan to further participation after the deferrals of 2016 annual incentive compensation under the plan.

### Pension and defined benefit restoration plans

In 2006, we closed our defined benefit pension plan to new participants and froze the benefits of employees who had not reached 40 years of age. Employees who were age 40 or older were eligible to continue to accrue benefits under the defined benefit plan, which provides them a retirement benefit based on their years of service with the company and their final average compensation (base salary plus annual incentive compensation). Of the named executive officers, only Mr. Childress continues to accrue benefits under the defined benefit pension plan. The other NEOs were hired after 2006. For salaried employees, including Messrs. Macadam, Riley, McLean and O'Neal, who are not eligible to accrue benefits under the defined benefit plan because they were hired after 2006, we make a contribution equal to 2% of salary and annual incentive compensation to the employee's account in our 401(k) plan. Any amount exceeding permitted 401(k) contributions is made to the deferred compensation plan.

We also provide our executive officers and others who participate in the defined benefit pension plan with a defined benefit restoration plan. The restoration plan gives them the benefits they would have received under our pension plan were it not for limitations under the pension plan. The federal tax code caps both the amount of annual compensation that the pension plan can take into account and the amount of annual benefits that the pension plan can provide. We include these caps in our pension plan in order to maintain its tax-qualified status. In addition, the pension plan does not take into account amounts deferred under our non-qualified deferred compensation plan. The defined benefit restoration plan permits participants to receive retirement pension benefits that take into account their full salaries and annual incentive compensation. Of the named executive officers, only Mr. Childress participates in the defined benefit restoration plan.

### Management continuity agreements

In a situation involving a change in control of our company, our executive management would face a far greater risk of termination than other salaried employees. To attract qualified executives who might find other job opportunities with less risk to continued employment, we have entered into a management continuity agreement with each of our executive officers and division presidents. These agreements incentivize our executives to stay with us in the event of an actual or potential change in control, and are an important part of a competitive executive compensation package.

In establishing the terms of these agreements, we looked at similar arrangements established by peer companies with whom we believe we compete for talent and by our former corporate parent. Particular terms in these agreements, including the applicable continuation period and provisions increasing the amount payable to account for excise taxes for agreements entered into prior to 2009, reflect our subjective judgment regarding the terms offered in comparable agreements by peer companies and our desire to offer competitive arrangements for executive employment.

Each continuity agreement provides for continued employment of the individual for a specified period after a change in control, with the same responsibilities and authorities and generally the same benefits and compensation as the individual had immediately prior to the change in control (including average annual increases). The period covered by the agreement is based on the relative responsibilities of the executive officer. For Mr. Macadam,

the period is three years; for the other executives, the period is two years. Under the agreements, the employee would be entitled to certain payments and other benefits if, during the continued employment period, we or our successor were to terminate the individual's employment for reasons other than "cause," or the individual voluntarily terminated his employment for a "good reason." These terms are defined in the agreements.

For an executive to receive payments and benefits under these agreements, two events, or triggers, must occur. First, there must be a change in control of the company, and second, the executive's employment must be terminated, either by the company, other than for "cause", or by the executive for "good reason." The second trigger incentivizes the executive to stay with the company and perform at a high level in the event of a change in control.

For more information about these payments and other benefits, see "Executive compensation—Potential payments upon termination or change in control." The Committee has reviewed the amounts that are potentially payable under these agreements and believes that they are reasonable.

# Severance policy

Our severance policies provide benefits to all full-time employees at our corporate office, including our executive officers. Under these policies, an executive officer whom we terminate without cause is entitled to continue receiving

his or her base salary for a specific period. The terminated officer is also entitled to receive a pro rata portion of the annual incentive compensation payable for the year in which the officer is terminated, along with a pro rata payout of all LTIP awards based on the number of months the officer was employed in each performance cycle.

The period for which an executive officer is entitled to continue receiving his or her base salary depends on the officer's level of responsibility. The CEO is entitled to a period of 24 months. Other executive officers are entitled to 12 months. An executive officer who is entitled to receive payments under the change-in-control continuity agreements described above is not entitled to severance benefits.

We believe that our severance policy is consistent with compensation packages for executive officers at other companies similar to ours and therefore is an important component of a competitive compensation package.

# Changes to compensation program for 2019

As noted above on page 32, the Committee uses benchmarking studies prepared by its independent executive compensation consultant in evaluating its executive compensation decisions, with the studies being prepared and presented to the Committee every two years. In connection with the preparation of the benchmarking study to be presented to the Committee in connection with compensation decisions made at its February 2019 meeting, the Committee expanded the peer group of companies used in compiling the study.

At the direction of the Committee, Pearl Meyer screened and reviewed companies included in Standard & Poor's Global Industry Classification Standard Capital Goods industry classification, reviewed the peer groups included in the 2018 reports of certain principal proxy advisory firms, and conducted an analysis to identify potential peer companies, evaluating comparability in terms of sales, business mix alignment, and market value, among other factors. The peer group selected by the Committee for the updated study,

consistent with Pearl Meyer's recommendation following its analysis, was the same group of companies used in the prior 2016 study as listed on page 32, with the exception of Clarcor, Inc. which was acquired after completion of that study and accordingly is no longer included, and with the addition of the following companies:

•Altra Industrial Motion •Columbus McKinnon Corporation Corp.

•Chart Industries, Inc. •ITT Inc.

•Rexnord Corporation •SPX Corporation

•SPX FLOW, Inc. •Standex International Corporation

Annual revenues of the companies in this expanded peer group ranged from \$861 million to \$3.2 billion, with median revenues of \$1.5 billion aligning with our 2018 revenues. The market capitalization of the peer companies at the time of the study ranged from \$677 million to \$10.5 billion, with median market capitalization of \$2.4 billion.

# Executive compensation

The following information relates to compensation paid or payable for 2018 to our CEO, our CFO and the three other most highly compensated of our executive officers.

We have also included information relating to compensation for 2017 and 2016 for the named executive officers who were also named executive officers in those years.

# **Summary compensation table**

The following table sets forth for the named executive officers:

- •their names and positions held in 2018 (column (a));
- •year covered (column (b));
- •salaries (column (c));
- other annual and long-term compensation (columns (d), (e), (f), (g) and (i));
- •the change for 2018 in the actuarial present value of their benefits under the defined benefit plans in which they participate (column (h)); and
- •their total compensation (column (j)), which is the sum of the amounts in columns (c) through (i).

Name and Principal Position (a)	Year (b)	Salary (\$) (c)	Bonus (\$) (d)	Stock Awards (\$)(1) (e)	Stock Options (\$) (f)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Comp. (\$)(2) (g)	Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Comp. Earnings (\$)(3) (h)	All Other Comp. (\$)(4)	Total (\$) (j)
Stephen E.	2018	884,099	_	1,942,879	_	1,647,421	_	138,033	4,612,432
Macadam	2017	868,269	_	2,016,096	_	2,606,040	_	136,270	5,626,675
President and Chief Executive Officer	2016	850,000	_	1,568,114	_	721,140	_	150,692	3,289,946
J. Milton Childress II	2018 2017	417,692 401,692		364,475 358,369	_	460,874 671,510	209,719 232,587	47,980 48,698	1,500,740 1,712,856

Edgar Filing: ENPRO INDUSTRIES, INC - Form DEF 14A

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2016	385,962	_	341,059	_	218,300	166,890	40,587	1,152,798
Marvin A.	2018	404,192		886,017		389,138	_	56,002	1,735,349
Riley	2017	331,826		652,891		367,291	_	25,900	1,377,908
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer	2016	310,000	_	187,357	_	163,169	_	33,130	693,656
Robert S.	2018	381,038	_	234,903	_	321,162	_	54,996	992,099
McLean	2017	369,176		233,984		463,698	_	52,097	1,118,955
Executive Vice President, Chief Administrat Officer, General Counsel and Secretary	1			230,921	_	157,800	_	37,238	781,044
William C. O'Neal	2018	272,307	_	108,819		170,933	_	36,981	589,040

Senior Vice

President,

Strategy,

Corporate

Development

and

Investor

Relations

(1)The annual long-term compensation awards made in 2018 were, in general, subdivided as follows: one-third of the target long-term compensation in an LTIP award payable in cash, one-third in an LTIP award payable in stock and one-third in an award of time-vested restricted stock units. The LTIP awards payable in stock and restricted stock units are reflected in this column. These equity awards are reported at a value, developed solely for purposes of disclosure in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, equal to the "grant date fair value" thereof under FASB ASC Topic 718 for financial reporting purposes, except that the reported value does not reflect any adjustments for risk of forfeiture. For awards of restricted stock units, the only assumption we used in determining these amounts was the grant date share price, which in each case was the closing price of our common stock on the day prior to the

grant date. The restricted stock units are scheduled to vest three years after the date of grant subject to the executive's continued employment during that period. The restricted stock units would vest earlier in the event of death, disability or retirement. For the LTIP awards payable in stock, we assumed the number of shares based on the target level of performance, with the grant date fair value determined by a Monte Carlo simulation methodology. Assuming maximum payouts under the stock LTIP awards, which are 200% of the target levels, the amounts reported above for the restricted stock units and stock LTIP awards for 2018 would be as follows: Mr. Macadam, \$2,985,788; Mr. Childress, \$560,120; Mr. Riley, \$1,028,337; Mr. McLean, \$360,996; and Mr. O'Neal, \$167,232. See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 for a discussion of the assumptions made in determining the grant date fair values in this column. The reported amounts for any award do not reflect any adjustments for restrictions on transferability.

(2)For 2018, these amounts consist of amounts earned under our annual performance plan and LTIP awards payable in cash for the three-year performance cycle ending in 2018. Here is the breakdown for each named executive officer:

	<b>Annual Plan</b>	Cash LTIP Award	Total
Macadam	\$1,017,421	\$630,000	\$1,647,421
Childress	320,453	140,421	460,874
Riley	310,096	79,042	389,138
McLean	229,689	91,473	321,162
O'Neal	134,301	36,632	170,933

<sup>(3)</sup>For 2018, these amounts consist of the following:

# Increase (Decrease) in Actuarial Present Value Under

	<b>Pension Plan</b>	<b>Restoration Plan</b>	Total
Macadam		_	_
Childress	\$25,366	\$184,353	\$209,719
Riley		_	_
McLean		_	_
O'Neal		_	

<sup>(4)</sup>For 2018, these amounts consist of the following:

	401(k) plan*	Amounts paid for umbrella liability insurance	Non-qualified deferred compensation plan match	Other**	Total
Macadam	\$22,000	\$1,015	\$115,018	_	\$138,033
Childress	18,500	691	28,789		47,980
Riley	22,820	691	_	\$32,491	56,002
McLean	19,696	691	34,609		54,996
O'Neal	22,000	691	14,290	_	36,981

<sup>\*</sup>For Mr. Macadam, includes a matching 401(k) contribution of \$16,500 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$5,500. For Mr. Childress, includes a matching 401(k) contribution of \$18,500. For Mr. Riley, includes a matching 401(k) contribution of \$17,320 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$5,500. For Mr. McLean, includes a matching 401(k) contribution of \$14,196 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$5,500. For Mr. O'Neal, includes a matching 401(k) contribution of \$16,500 and an employer 401(k) contribution of \$5,500.

<sup>\*\*</sup>In 2018, in connection with Mr. Riley's transition as our Chief Operating Officer, we provided him with the use of a corporate apartment in Charlotte and a leased vehicle for use while he is in Charlotte.

The "Stock Awards" values shown in column (e) of this table include grants of LTIP awards payable in stock for three-year long-term incentive cycles. These shares are earned only if we achieve a specified threshold level of performance. The number of shares the officers actually earn will be based on the level of performance. For the purposes of this table, the values shown assume our performance will reach the target level. For more information about our long-term incentive plan, or LTIP, under which we granted these awards, see below under "—Grants of plan-based awards—LTIP awards."

In February 2019, the Compensation Committee certified performance levels achieved under long-term incentive plan awards (comprised of LTIP awards payable in cash and LTIP awards payable in stock) for cycles ending in 2018. These awards were based on grants made in February 2016 for the 2016-2018 performance cycle. Payment for each award was conditioned upon achievement of threshold performance goals the Compensation Committee set at that time. Participants in this LTIP cycle, including the named executive officers, earned the right to any payment under the awards as of December 31, 2018. Payment of

these LTIP awards was made at 90.0% of the target level on LTIP awards payable in cash and at 142.8% of the target level on LTIP awards payable in stock. For LTIP awards that were payable in cash, this payout is reflected in footnote 2 to column (g) of the summary compensation table. For the LTIP awards payable in stock, the amounts for 2016 in column (e) reflect the fair value on the date these awards were granted, along with the fair value of awards of restricted stock units on the date such awards were granted. The fair value was determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. The summary compensation table does not reflect the actual payout of the LTIP awards payable in stock that were granted in 2016.

For more information about payouts under our annual performance plan, which are included in the amounts shown in column (g) above (see footnote 2), see the section below entitled "—Grants of Plan-Based Awards—Annual Performance Plan Awards."

# **Employment agreement**

Our recruitment of Mr. Macadam as our President and Chief Executive Officer included an agreement establishing the terms of his employment. We entered into this agreement on March 10, 2008. It provides for a minimum annual salary of \$825,000. It also provided initial awards of stock options and restricted stock upon commencement of his employment. It does not provide for any subsequent equity awards.

The employment agreement makes Mr. Macadam eligible to participate in our annual incentive plan, with a target of no less than 100% of his annual base salary, and in our long-term incentive compensation plan. His compensation under our long-term incentive compensation plan is set at the discretion of our board of directors at levels that:

- •are comparable to and competitive with the long-term incentive awards granted to the CEOs of similarly sized diversified manufacturing companies,
- •meet standards of internal and external pay fairness,
- •comply with existing legal and regulatory requirements,
- •are consistent with our compensation objectives,
- •meet the approval of our independent compensation consultant, and
- •appropriately reward performance that enhances the value of our shares and furthers our strategic and financial objectives.

The employment agreement will end upon Mr. Macadam's death, resignation or termination of employment by EnPro. We may terminate Mr. Macadam's employment for any

reason, and Mr. Macadam may resign his employment for any reason. The employment agreement requires Mr. Macadam to maintain confidential information and includes a covenant against certain activities in competition against EnPro for two years following termination of employment.

Pursuant to the employment agreement, we entered into a management continuity agreement with Mr. Macadam. The management continuity agreement and the provisions for severance in the event of the termination of Mr. Macadam's employment are described below in "—Potential payments upon termination or change in control."

In March 2019, we entered into an amendment to Mr. Macadam's employment agreement to provide for his retirement as Chief Executive Officer and President on July 29, 2019 and his continuation as Vice Chairman, at his current salary rate, from that date until his retirement from all employment positions on February 29, 2020. As Vice Chairman, Mr. Macadam is to report to the board of directors and is to provide such assistance to the Chief Executive Officer to facilitate the transition in leadership of the company as the board and the Chief Executive Officer may reasonably request. The amendment limits the proration upon retirement of outstanding long-term incentive compensation awards through December 31, 2019, though the proration upon retirement for outstanding restricted stock unit awards would continue until the February 29, 2020 retirement date. It also provides that Mr. Macadam would not be eligible to receive annual incentive compensation awards and long-term compensation awards in 2020.

# Grants of plan-based awards

The following table provides additional information about awards we granted in 2018 to the named executive officers under our annual performance plan, LTIP awards payable in cash, LTIP awards payable in stock and awards of restricted stock units under our Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Compensation Plan (or, the "Equity Plan").

			Estimated Under Nor Plan Awar	-Equity	•	Estimated Under Equ Plan Awar	uity Inco	•	All Other Stock Awards: Number	Awards: Number of
Name ( <u>a</u> )	Plan	Grant Date (b)	Threshold (\$) (c)	Target (\$) (d)	Maximum (\$) (e)	Threshold (#) (f)	Target (#) (g)	Maximum (#) (h)	0.01	Securities Underlying Options (#)
Stephen E.	Annual Plan(1)	2/12/2018	464 152	028 304	1,856,608				(1)	<b>(j</b> )
Macadam	Allilual Flail(1)	2/12/2016	404,132	920,304	1,050,000	_		_	<u> </u>	_
	LTIP	2/12/2018	450,030	900,060	1,800,120	_	_	_		_
	LTIP/Equity Plan	2/12/2018			_	5,571	11,141	22,282	_	_
	Equity Plan	2/12/2018	_	_	_	_	_	_	11,141	_
J. Milton Childress II	Annual Plan(1)	2/12/2018	146,192	292,384	584,769	_	_	_	_	_
	LTIP	2/12/2018	84,370	168,740	337,480	_	_		_	_
	LTIP/Equity Plan	2/12/2018	_		_	1,045	2,090	4,180	_	_
	Equity Plan	2/12/2018	_	_	_	_	_	_	2,090	_
Marvin A. Riley	Annual Plan(1)	2/12/2018	141,467	282,934	565,869	_	_	_	_	_
	LTIP	2/12/2018	70,028	140,055	280,110	_	_	_	_	_
	LTIP/Equity Plan	2/12/2018	_	_	_	867	1,734	3,468	_	_
	Equity Plan	2/12/2018	_	_	_	_	_	_	1,734	_
	Equity Plan	5/1/2018	_	_	_	_	_	_	7,500	_
Robert S. McLean	Annual Plan(1)			209,571		_	_	_	_	_
	LTIP	2/12/2018	54,390	108,779	217,558	_				_

	LTIP/Equity Plan	2/12/2018 —			_	674	1,347	2,694	_	
	Equity Plan	2/12/2018 —			_	_	_	_	1,347	_
William C. O'Neal	Annual Plan(1)	2/12/2018 61	,269	122,538	245,076	_	_	_	_	
	LTIP	2/12/2018 25	5,219	50,437	100,874	_		_	_	_
	LTIP/Equity Plan	2/12/2018 —		_	_	312	624	1,248	_	_
	Equity Plan	2/12/2018 —				_			624	_

(1)For 2018 awards under our annual performance incentive plans, payouts are based on relevant performance results against specified threshold, target and maximum performance levels. The Compensation Committee administers the annual performance plan to provide for payouts at a threshold level of performance at 50% of the target payout, payouts at a target level of performance at 100% of the target payout, and payouts at a maximum level of performance at 200% of the target payout. Performance between any of the established levels yields a proportional payout.

(2) The amounts in this column reflect the grant date fair value under FASB ASC Topic 718 of respective awards in 2018 of LTIP awards payable in stock at the target payout level and restricted stock units.

### Annual performance plan awards

In February 2018, the Compensation Committee granted each named executive officer an opportunity for an award in 2018 under our annual performance plan. Information about these award opportunities is reported in the Annual Plan line beside each officer's name in the table above under the section, Grants of plan-based awards. The 2018 payout amounts are included in column (g) of the summary compensation table and broken out in footnote 2 to the summary compensation table. The annual performance plan and the awards made under this plan to the NEOs in 2018 are described in "Compensation discussion and analysis—Compensation analysis—Annual performance incentive plan awards."

# LTIP awards

Our annual long-term incentive compensation awards made in 2018 were a combination of LTIP awards payable in cash and LTIP awards payable in stock. Each LTIP award sets a target performance level for corporate performance over a three-year cycle, with a threshold performance level below which the participants will earn no payout and a maximum performance level at which the participants will earn the maximum payout. The Committee establishes the performance required for payouts at the time it grants the LTIP awards, which is generally in the first part of the first year in the cycle. Our long-term incentive compensation plan and the LTIP awards made under that plan to the NEOs in 2018 are described in "Compensation discussion and analysis—Compensation analysis—Long-term compensation."

#### Restricted stock unit awards

For 2018, the Committee determined that, in general, one-third of the target long-term compensation would be payable in the form of restricted stock units. While we generally make compensation decisions and grant equity and other compensation awards only on an annual basis, in May 2018 we made an out-of-cycle award of 7,500 additional restricted stock units to Mr. Riley, our corporate Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, in connection with the full transition of his responsibilities to that role. These restricted stock units vest commencing on the third anniversary of the date of grant, with 2,000, 2,500 and 3,000 restricted stock units vesting on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively, subject to Mr. Riley's continued employment through the vesting date.

All 2018 awards of restricted stock units to the named executive officers were made under the Equity Plan. Other than the out-of-cycle award to Mr. Riley, the restricted stock units vest three years after the date of grant subject to the executive's continued employment during that period. The restricted stock units vest earlier than the scheduled vesting

date in the event of death or disability. In the event of an executive's retirement, the restricted stock units vest pro rata based on the number of months he or she was employed after the grant date through the retirement date compared to the scheduled 36-month period. The restricted stock units would vest upon a change of control of the company, except that, if the resulting entity in the change in control assumes the awards, the awards will vest early in connection with a change in control only if within two years after the change in control the employee is terminated without "cause" or the employee resigns for "good reason," as such terms are defined in the restricted stock unit awards.

Recipients of restricted stock units are not entitled to receive dividends (if dividends are paid) before the units vest. However, when the units vest, the recipient is entitled to receive one share of common stock for each restricted stock unit vesting plus a cash payment equal to the aggregate amount of any cash dividends paid on the shares from the date of the award through the date the units vest. Recipients have no right to vote any restricted stock units on any matter presented to a vote of the company's shareholders.

# Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end

The following table is a snapshot as of the end of 2018 of equity awards to our named executive officers who were employed at December 31, 2018. These officers have not yet realized the benefits of these rewards. Other than the option awards in column (b), the awards either have not vested or the officers have not yet earned them.

	Option Awar	rds			Stock Awards				
Name	Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#)	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable (c)	Option Exercise Price (\$) (e)	Option Expiration Date (f)	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) (g)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)(1) (h)	Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (\$)(1) (j)	
Stephen E. Macadam	18,187	_	42.24	2/10/2021	_	_	_	_	
112000000111	_	_	_	_	17,479(2)	1,050,488	_	_	
	_	_	_	_	14,580(3)	876,258		_	
	_	_		_	11,141(4)	669,574	_	_	
	_	_	_	_	_	_	26,506(5)	1,593,011	
	_	_	_	_	_	_	22,282(6)	1,339,148	
J. Milton Childress II	_	_	_	_	3,706(2)	222,731	_	_	
	_		_	_	2,552(3)	153,375		_	
	_			_	2,090(4)	125,609			
	_	_	_	_	_	_	4,782(5)	287,398	
	_			_			4,180(6)	251,218	
Marvin A. Riley	_	_	_	_	1,981(2)	119,058	_	_	
	_				3,825(3)	229,883	_	_	
	_	_	_	_	4,000(7)	240,400	_	_	
	_	_	_	_	1,734(4)	104,213	_	_	
	_	_		_	7,500(8)	450,750		_	
	_	_		_	_	_	2,650(5)	159,265	
	_	_	_	_	_	_	3,468(6)	208,427	
					2,610(2)	156,861			

		J	O		,		
Robert S. McLean	  	_ _ _	_ _ _	_ _ _	1,672(3) 1,347(4)	100,487 80,955 —	   187,031
_	_						
(25 ) Repurcha (733 )	se of common	n stock					
_							
_							
(733 ) Dividends (574 ) (574 ) (48 )	s paid on com	nmon stock					
(574							
) Distributi	ons to control	lling interests					
_							
(186 ) 186							
Distributi	ons to noncor	ntrolling interes	ts				
_							

(20

```
(20
Net proceeds from issuance of Phillips 66 Partners LP common units
384
384
Other*
(10
)
22
88
(98
)
2
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing financing activities
(2,142)
(561
1,292
710
(701
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
(2,142)
```

) (561
) 1,292
710
(701
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents —
_
56
_
56
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents —
(450
332
(118
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period —
2,045
3,162

5,207
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period  —
,595
3,494
5,089
Includes intercompany capital contributions.
32

# Table of Contents

	Millions of Six Month	s Ended June				
Statement of Cash Flows	Phillips 66	Phillips 66 Company	All Other Subsidiaries	Consolidating Adjustments	g Total Consolidated	
Cash Flows From Operating Activities		Company	Substatutios	rajustinents	Comsonauca	
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities	\$24	1,105	1,226	(129	)2,226	
Net cash provided by discontinued operations	_	_	2	_	2	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	24	1,105	1,228	(129	) 2,228	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities						
Capital expenditures and investments*	_	(1,094	) (757	)718	(1,133	)
Proceeds from asset dispositions	_	998	59	(400	)657	
Intercompany lending activities	2,211	(1,122	)(1,089	)—		
Advances/loans—related parties	_	_	(3	)—	(3	)
Other		(91	) 125	_	34	
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing investing activities	2,211	(1,309	)(1,665	)318	(445	)
Net cash used in discontinued operations			(2	)—	(2	)
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities	2,211	(1,309	)(1,667	)318	(447	)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities						
Repayment of debt		(7	)(10	)—	(17	)
Issuance of common stock	(12	)—	<del></del>	<u></u>	(12	)
Repurchase of common stock	(1,256	)—			(1,256	)
Share exchange—PSPI transaction	(450	)—			(450	)
Dividends paid on common stock	(510	)—	(102	) 102	(510	)
Distributions to controlling interests			(289	)289	<del>.</del>	
Distributions to noncontrolling interests	_	_	(13	)—	(13	)
Other*	(7	)31	581	(580	)25	
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing financing activities	(2,235	)24	167	(189	)(2,233	)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations	_	_	_	_	_	
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing	(0.005	> 2.4	1.67	(100	\	`
Activities	(2,235	)24	167	(189	)(2,233	)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents	_	_	8	_	8	
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents	_	(180	)(264	)—	(444	)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	_	2,162	3,238	_	5,400	
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period * Includes intercompany capital contributions.	\$—	1,982	2,974	_	4,956	

#### **Table of Contents**

# Item 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management's Discussion and Analysis is the company's analysis of its financial performance, financial condition, and significant trends that may affect future performance. It should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere in this report. It contains forward-looking statements including, without limitation, statements relating to the company's plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions that are made pursuant to the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The words "anticipate," "estimate," "believe," "budget," "continue," "could," "intend," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "seek," "should," "will," "objective," "projection," "forecast," "goal," "guidance," "outlook," "effort," "target" and similar expressions identify forward statements. The company does not undertake to update, revise or correct any of the forward-looking information unless required to do so under the federal securities laws. Readers are cautioned that such forward-looking statements should be read in conjunction with the company's disclosures under the heading: "CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE 'SAFE HARBOR' PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995," beginning on page 50.

The terms "earnings" and "loss" as used in Management's Discussion and Analysis refer to net income (loss) attributable to Phillips 66.

#### BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Phillips 66 is an energy manufacturing and logistics company with midstream, chemicals, refining, and marketing and specialties businesses. At June 30, 2015, we had total assets of \$50 billion. Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "PSX."

### **Executive Overview**

We reported earnings of \$1,012 million in the second quarter of 2015 and generated \$1,427 million in cash from operating activities. We used available cash to fund capital expenditures and investments of \$1,213 million, pay dividends of \$302 million, and repurchase \$334 million of our common stock. We ended the second quarter of 2015 with \$5.1 billion of cash and cash equivalents and approximately \$5.4 billion of total capacity available under our liquidity facilities.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Business Environment**

The Midstream segment includes our 50 percent equity investment in DCP Midstream, LLC (DCP Midstream). Earnings of DCP Midstream are closely linked to natural gas liquids (NGL) prices, natural gas prices and crude oil prices. Industry NGL prices decreased in the second quarter of 2015, compared with the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2014. Ethane prices decreased in the second quarter of 2015, compared with the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2014, primarily due to excess ethane supply and lower natural gas prices. Propane prices continued to decrease from the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2014 to the second quarter of 2015, mainly due to high inventory levels. Natural gas prices decreased in the second quarter of 2015, compared with the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2014, as seasonal inventory draws were smaller than market expectations.

The Chemicals segment consists of our 50 percent equity investment in Chevron Phillips Chemical Company LLC (CPChem). The chemicals and plastics industry is mainly a commodity-based industry where the margins for key products are based on supply and demand, as well as cost factors. The petrochemicals industry continues to experience higher ethylene margins in regions of the world where production is based upon NGL versus crude-derived feedstocks. In particular, companies with North American light NGL-based crackers have benefited from lower-priced feedstocks; however, the ethylene to polyethylene chain margins have compressed in 2015 with the significant decline in crude oil prices that began in late 2014.

Results for our Refining segment depend largely on refining margins, cost control, refinery throughput, and product yields. The crack spread is a measure of the difference between market prices for refined petroleum products and crude oil, and it is used within our industry as an indicator for refining margins. The U.S. 3:2:1 crack spread (three barrels of crude oil producing two barrels of gasoline and one barrel of diesel) increased in the second quarter of 2015, compared with the first quarter of 2015 and second quarter of 2014. Although crude prices were higher in the second quarter of 2015 versus the first quarter, the domestic industry crack spread increased due to the average market crude oil price increasing less than the average market gasoline price.

The Northwest Europe benchmark crack spread increased in the second quarter of 2015 compared with the first quarter of 2015 and the second quarter of 2014. The increase from the first quarter of 2015 was mainly due to the global gasoline market putting upward pressure on European prices.

Results for our Marketing and Specialty (M&S) segment depend largely on marketing fuel margins, base oil margins, lubricant margins and other specialty product margins. These margins are primarily based on market factors, largely determined by the relationship between demand and supply. Marketing fuel margins are influenced by crude oil pricing trends, which drive spot prices for refined products. Generally, in a period of rising crude oil prices, refined product spot prices will increase at a faster pace than the corresponding wholesale "rack" price of products sold to retailers, thereby tightening marketing margins. In a period of falling crude oil prices, the inverse occurs, and marketing margins generally benefit.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, discussion of results for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, is based on a comparison with the corresponding period of 2014.

#### Consolidated Results

A summary of net income (loss) attributable to Phillips 66 by business segment follows:

	Millions of Dollars					
	Three Months Ended			Six Mon	ths Ended	
	June 30		June 30			
	2015	2014		2015	2014	
Midstream	\$(78	) 108		(11	) 296	
Chemicals	295	324		498	640	
Refining	604	390		1,142	696	
Marketing and Specialties	314	162		618	299	
Corporate and Other	(123	)(121	)	(248	) (202	)
Income from continuing operations attributable to Phillips 66	1,012	863		1,999	1,729	
Discontinued Operations	_	_		_	706	
Net income attributable to Phillips 66	\$1,012	863		1,999	2,435	

Earnings from continuing operations increased \$149 million, or 17 percent, in the second quarter of 2015, and \$270 million, or 16 percent, in the six-month period. These increases were primarily attributable to improved refining margins, as well as the recognition of the previously deferred gain related to the sale in 2013 of the Immingham Combined Heat and Power Plant (ICHP). These items were partially offset by lower equity earnings from CPChem and DCP Midstream.

See the "Segment Results" section for additional information on our segment results.

#### Statement of Income Analysis

Sales and other operating revenues for the second quarter and six-month period of 2015 decreased 37 percent and 40 percent, respectively, and purchased crude oil and products decreased 43 percent and 47 percent, respectively. These decreases were primarily due to lower prices for petroleum products, crude oil and NGL.

Equity in earnings of affiliates decreased 47 percent and 44 percent in the second quarter and six-month period of 2015, respectively, primarily resulting from decreased earnings from CPChem, DCP Midstream, and WRB Refining LP (WRB). Equity in earnings of WRB decreased 10 percent and 25 percent during the second quarter and six-month period of 2015, mainly due to lower realized refining margins in the Central Corridor region as a result of a lower feedstock advantage. See the "Segment Results" section for additional information on CPChem and DCP Midstream earnings.

Net gain on dispositions for the second quarter and six-month period of 2015 was \$139 million and \$261 million, respectively, compared with \$9 million and \$16 million for the corresponding periods of 2014. The increases in both periods primarily resulted from the recognition of the previously deferred gain related to the sale of ICHP in 2013. See Note 5—Assets Held for Sale or Sold, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information.

See Note 19—Income Taxes, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for information regarding our provision for income taxes and effective tax rates.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Segment Results

#### Midstream

	Three Months Ended June 30		Six Month June 30	hs Ended	
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
	Millions of I	Oollars			
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Phillips 66					
Transportation	\$65	60	130	122	
DCP Midstream	(151	)33	(163	)116	
NGL	8	15	22	58	
Total Midstream	\$(78	) 108	(11	) 296	
	Dollars Per U	Unit			
Weighted Average NGL Price*					
DCP Midstream (per gallon)	\$0.48	0.93	0.48	1.00	

<sup>\*</sup> Based on index prices from the Mont Belvieu and Conway market hubs that are weighted by NGL component and location mix.

	Thousand	ly		
Transportation Volumes				
Pipelines*	3,290	3,243	3,218	3,172
Terminals	1,969	1,609	1,976	1,543
Operating Statistics				
NGL extracted**	408	452	404	449
NGL fractionated***	108	117	108	114

<sup>\*</sup> Pipelines represent the sum of volumes transported through each separately tariffed pipeline segment, including our share of equity volumes from Yellowstone Pipe Line Company and Lake Charles Pipe Line Company.

The Midstream segment purchases raw natural gas from producers and gathers natural gas through an extensive network of pipeline gathering systems. The natural gas is then processed to extract NGL from the raw gas stream. The remaining "residue" gas is marketed to electric utilities, industrial users and gas marketing companies. Most of the NGLs are fractionated—separated into individual components such as ethane, propane and butane—and marketed as chemical feedstock, fuel or blendstock. In addition, the Midstream segment includes U.S. transportation, pipeline, terminaling, and refining logistics services associated with the movement of crude oil, refined and specialty products, natural gas and NGL, as well as NGL fractionation, trading and marketing businesses in the United States. The Midstream segment includes our 50 percent equity investment in DCP Midstream and the consolidated results of Phillips 66 Partners LP.

Earnings from the Midstream segment decreased \$186 million in the second quarter of 2015 and decreased \$307 million in the six-month period.

Transportation earnings increased \$5 million in the second quarter of 2015 and \$8 million in the six-month period. The increases reflected the startup of our Bayway and Ferndale rail unloading facilities in the second half of 2014,

<sup>\*\*</sup> Includes 100 percent of DCP Midstream's volumes.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Excludes DCP Midstream.

increased railcar fleet, and increased throughput volumes. These items were partially offset by higher earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests.

#### **Table of Contents**

Earnings associated with our investment in DCP Midstream decreased \$184 million in the second quarter of 2015 and \$279 million in the six-month period. Contributing to the decrease in both periods of 2015 was a goodwill impairment recorded by DCP Midstream. Due to the significant downturn in commodity prices over the past three quarters, including further deterioration in the second quarter of 2015, DCP Midstream determined it was more likely than not the estimated fair values of certain of its goodwill reporting units and certain of DCP Midstream Partners, LP (DCP Partners) goodwill reporting units were below their carrying amount, and performed a goodwill impairment test. The impairment test was based on an internal discounted cash flow model taking into account various observable and non-observable factors, such as prices, volumes, expenses and discount rate. The impairment test resulted in DCP Midstream's recognition of a \$427 million goodwill impairment during the second quarter of 2015, which reduced our equity earnings from DCP Midstream by \$126 million after-tax. This impairment represents DCP Midstream's best estimate pending finalization of the fair value assessments.

Contributing to the lower earnings associated with our investment in DCP Midstream were decreases in NGL, crude oil and natural gas prices, partially offset by improved asset performance in certain geographic regions and cost savings initiatives. See the "Business Environment and Executive Overview" section for information on market factors impacting this quarter's results.

DCP Partners, a master limited partnership formed by DCP Midstream, periodically issues limited partner units to the public. These issuances benefited our equity in earnings from DCP Midstream, on an after-tax basis, by \$1 million in the six-month period ended June 30, 2015, compared with \$35 million in the corresponding period of 2014. There were no issuances of these limited partner units during the three-month period ended June 30, 2015, compared with a \$5 million of benefit from issuances during the corresponding period of 2014.

The earnings of our NGL business decreased \$7 million and \$36 million for the second quarter and six-month period of 2015, respectively. The decreases in both periods reflected lower realized margins. In addition, increased costs associated with growth projects lowered results in the six-month 2015 period. The decrease in earnings for the first half of 2015 was partially offset by the improved equity earnings from our investment in DCP Sand Hills Pipeline, LLC.

Three Months Ended

%95

Six Months Ended

89

%94

%

#### **Table of Contents**

Olefins and Polyolefins Capacity Utilization (percent)

#### Chemicals

	June 30	June 30				)	
	2015	2014	2015	2014			
	Millions	of Dollars					
Net Income Attributable to Phillips 66	\$295	324	498	640			
	Millions	of Pounds					
CPChem Externally Marketed Sales Volumes*							
Olefins and Polyolefins (O&P)	4,258	4,395	8,277	8,697			
Specialties, Aromatics and Styrenics (SA&S)	1,356	1,530	2,838	3,099			
	5,614	5,925	11,115	11,796			
* Includes 100 percent of CPChem's outside sales of profrom equity affiliates.	oduced petroche	mical products,	as well as com	mission sales			

The Chemicals segment consists of our 50 percent interest in CPChem, which we account for under the equity method. CPChem uses NGL and other feedstocks to produce petrochemicals. These products are then marketed and sold or used as feedstocks to produce plastics and other chemicals.

91

Earnings from the Chemicals segment decreased \$29 million, or 9 percent, in the second quarter of 2015, and \$142 million, or 22 percent, in the six-month period. The decreases were primarily driven by lower ethylene margins due to lower sales prices, lower equity earnings from CPChem's O&P equity affiliates, and higher turnaround activity costs. These decreases were partially offset by higher equity earnings from CPChem's SA&S equity affiliates, and a decrease in utility costs due to lower natural gas prices. Earnings in both 2015 periods benefited from business interruption and property damage insurance proceeds related to the fire at CPChem's Port Arthur, Texas facility in July 2014. All insurance proceeds were finalized in the second quarter of 2015. See the "Business Environment and Executive Overview" section for information on market factors impacting this quarter's results.

# Table of Contents

# Refining

	Three Months Ended June 30			Six Months Ended		
				June 30		
	2015	2014		2015	2014	
	Millians of D	.11				
N. J. G. A. H. H. H. B. B. G.	Millions of Do	onars				
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Phillips 66						
Atlantic Basin/Europe	\$90	(37	)	203	1	
Gulf Coast	83	118		154	197	
Central Corridor	216	232		411	457	
Western/Pacific	215	77		374	41	
Worldwide	\$604	390		1,142	696	
	Dollars Per Ba					
Refining Margins*						
Atlantic Basin/Europe	\$10.45	5.75		10.18	7.01	
Gulf Coast	7.38	8.22		8.80	8.50	
Central Corridor	13.49	15.26		13.67	15.32	
Western/Pacific	19.87	11.11		18.22	9.40	
Worldwide	11.70	9.66		11.97	9.77	

<sup>\*</sup> Based on total processed inputs and includes proportional share of refining margins contributed by certain equity affiliates.

	Thousand	ls of Barrels Daily	7	
Operating Statistics		•		
Refining operations*				
Atlantic Basin/Europe				
Crude oil capacity	588	588	588	588
Crude oil processed	475	562	494	556
Capacity utilization (percent)	81	<b>%96</b>	84	95
Refinery production	526	615	549	602
Gulf Coast				
Crude oil capacity	738	733	738	733
Crude oil processed	662	673	596	643
Capacity utilization (percent)	90	<b>%92</b>	81	88
Refinery production	742	783	672	750
Central Corridor				
Crude oil capacity	492	485	492	485
Crude oil processed	495	493	478	480
Capacity utilization (percent)	101	% 102	97	99
Refinery production	513	513	500	498
Western/Pacific				
Crude oil capacity	360	440	360	440
Crude oil processed	337	424	332	410
Capacity utilization (percent)	94	<b>%96</b>	92	93
Refinery production	356	454	359	441
Worldwide				
Crude oil capacity	2,178	2,246	2,178	2,246

Edgar Filing: ENPRO INDUSTRIES, INC - Form DEF 14A

Crude oil processed	1,969	2,152	1,900	2,089
Capacity utilization (percent)	90	%96	87	93
Refinery production	2,137	2,365	2,080	2,291

<sup>\*</sup> Includes our share of equity affiliates.

#### **Table of Contents**

The Refining segment buys, sells and refines crude oil and other feedstocks into petroleum products (such as gasoline, distillates and aviation fuels) at 14 refineries, mainly in the United States and Europe.

Earnings for the Refining segment increased \$214 million, or 55 percent, in the second quarter of 2015. The increase was primarily due to higher realized refining margins resulting from improved secondary product margins and increased market crack spreads, partially offset by lower feedstock advantage and lower clean product differentials. Improved secondary product margins reflect the significant decline in crude oil costs in the 2015 periods. In addition, earnings benefited from positive foreign exchange impacts. These increases were partially offset by lower volumes mainly due to maintenance and turnaround activities. See the "Business Environment and Executive Overview" section for information on market factors impacting this quarter's results.

Earnings for the Refining segment increased \$446 million, or 64 percent, in the six-month period of 2015. The increase was primarily due to higher realized refining margins resulting from improved secondary product margins and increased market crack spreads, partially offset by lower feedstock advantage and lower clean product differentials. Earnings also benefited from lower controllable costs incurred by our equity affiliates. These increases were partially offset by lower volumes mainly due to maintenance and turnaround activities.

Our worldwide refining crude oil capacity utilization rate was 90 percent and 87 percent in the second quarter and six-month period of 2015, respectively, compared with 96 percent and 93 percent in the second quarter and six-month period of 2014, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to higher turnaround and maintenance activities.

Effective January 1, 2015, we aligned the results of the activities previously included in "Other Refining" into the Atlantic Basin/Europe, Gulf Coast, Central Corridor, and Western/Pacific refining regions. There were no changes to the consolidated Refining operating segment as a result of this alignment. The new alignment is presented for the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, with the prior periods recast for comparability.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Marketing and Specialties

	Three Months Ended June 30		Six Months June 30	ths Ended		
	2015	2014	2015	2014		
	Millions of D	ollars				
Net Income Attributable to Phillips 66						
Marketing and Other	\$266	119	520	212		
Specialties	48	43	98	87		
Total Marketing and Specialties	\$314	162	618	299		
	Dollars Per Barrel					
Realized Marketing Fuel Margin*						
U.S.	\$1.46	1.17	1.46	1.18		
International	2.98	4.52	3.41	4.12		
* On third-party petroleum products sales.						
	Dollars Per G	allon				
U.S. Average Wholesale Prices*						
Gasoline	\$2.19	3.07	1.97	2.94		
Distillates	1.98	3.12	1.90	3.11		
* Excludes excise taxes.						
	Thousands of Barrels Daily					
Marketing Petroleum Products Sales Volumes						
Gasoline	1,268	1,237	1,165	1,178		
Distillates	960	970	922	957		
Other products	14	19	15	18		
Total	2,242	2,226	2,102	2,153		

The M&S segment purchases for resale and markets refined petroleum products (such as gasoline, distillates and aviation fuels), mainly in the United States and Europe. In addition, this segment includes the manufacturing and marketing of specialty products (such as base oils and lubricants), as well as power generation operations.

The M&S segment earnings increased \$152 million, or 94 percent, in the second quarter of 2015. The increase was primarily due to the recognition of the remaining deferred gain related to the 2013 sale of ICHP, and higher marketing volumes.

Earnings for the six-month period of 2015 increased \$319 million, or 107 percent. The increase was primarily due to the recognition of the previously deferred gain related to the 2013 sale of ICHP. In addition, the earnings benefited from improved marketing margins and higher volumes due to higher renewable fuels blending activities, and consignment fuel sales. See the "Business Environment and Executive Overview" section for information on marketing fuel margins and other market factors impacting this quarter's results.

#### **Table of Contents**

## Corporate and Other

	Millions	of Dollars				
	Three Months Ended			Six Months Ended		
	June 30			June 30		
	2015	2014		2015	2014	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Phillips 66						
Net interest	\$(46	)(39	)	(99	)(80	)
Corporate general and administrative expenses	(36	) (44	)	(81	)(84	)
Technology	(15	)(14	)	(29	)(27	)
Other	(26	) (24	)	(39	)(11	)
Total Corporate and Other	\$(123	)(121	)	(248	)(202	)

Net interest consists of interest and financing expense, net of interest income and capitalized interest. Net interest increased \$7 million and \$19 million, respectively, in the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, primarily due to a higher average debt principal balance, partially offset by increased capitalized interest.

The category "Other" includes certain income tax expenses, environmental costs associated with sites no longer in operation, foreign currency transaction gains and losses and other costs not directly associated with an operating segment. The increase in costs for the first half of 2015 was mainly due to foreign tax credit carryforwards that were utilized during the first quarter of 2014.

## **Discontinued Operations**

	Millions of l	Dollars		
	Three Mont	hs Ended	Six Months	Ended
	June 30		June 30	
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Net Income Attributable to Phillips 66				
Discontinued operations	<b>\$</b> —	_	_	706

In February 2014, we completed the Phillips Specialty Products Inc. (PSPI) share exchange, resulting in the receipt of approximately 17.4 million shares of Phillips 66 common stock, which are held as treasury shares, and the recognition of a before-tax noncash gain of \$696 million. See Note 5—Assets Held for Sale or Sold, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information on this transaction.

#### **Table of Contents**

## CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

#### **Financial Indicators**

	Millions of Dollars Except as Indicated		
	June 30 Decen		
	2015	2014	
Short-term debt	\$42	842	
Total debt	8,965	8,684	
Total equity	23,223	22,037	
Percent of total debt to capital*	28	%28	
Percent of floating-rate debt to total debt	1	%1	

<sup>\*</sup> Capital includes total debt and total equity.

To meet our short- and long-term liquidity requirements, we look to a variety of funding sources, but rely primarily on cash generated from operating activities. During the first six months of 2015, we generated \$2,779 million in cash from operations, received \$1,169 million from Phillips 66 Partners' issuance of debt, and received \$384 million from the issuance of Phillips 66 Partners' common units to the public. Available cash was primarily used for capital expenditures and investments (\$2,294 million), debt repayments (\$904 million), repurchases of our common stock (\$733 million) and dividend payments on our common stock (\$574 million). During the first six months of 2015, cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$118 million, to \$5,089 million.

In addition to cash flows from operating activities, we rely on our commercial paper and credit facility programs, asset sales and our ability to issue securities using our shelf registration statement to support our short- and long-term liquidity requirements. We believe current cash and cash equivalents and cash generated by operations, together with access to external sources of funds as described below under "Significant Sources of Capital," will be sufficient to meet our funding requirements in the near and long term, including our capital spending, dividend payments, defined benefit plan contributions, debt repayment and share repurchases.

## Significant Sources of Capital

## **Operating Activities**

During the first six months of 2015, cash provided by operating activities was \$2,779 million, compared with \$2,228 million for the first six months of 2014. Although net income was lower during the first six months of 2015, compared with the first six months of 2014, there were large noncash items in both periods, including the gain on the PSPI exchange in 2014, recognition in 2015 of a deferred gain from a 2013 asset disposition, and a goodwill impairment by DCP Midstream. After consideration of these items, underlying earnings for the first six months of 2015 were similar to the comparable period of 2014. Increased positive working capital impacts during the first six months of 2015, as compared with the same period of 2014, were driven mainly by decreased receivables and inventory builds at reduced commodity prices relative to the prior year, partially offset by smaller increases in payables and tax accruals. These positive impacts were partially offset by decreased distributions during the first six months of 2015 from equity affiliates, including DCP Midstream and WRB, compared with the same period of 2014. Operating cash flows in the first six months of 2014 also benefited from the receipt of a special distribution from WRB, of which \$760 million was considered an operating cash flow. For additional information about the WRB special distribution, see Note 6—Investments, Loans and Long-Term Receivables, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our short- and long-term operating cash flows are highly dependent upon refining and marketing margins, NGL prices, and chemicals margins. Prices and margins in our industry are typically volatile, and are driven by market conditions over which we have little or no control. Absent other mitigating factors, as these prices and margins fluctuate, we would expect a corresponding change in our operating cash flows.

#### **Table of Contents**

The level and quality of output from our refineries impacts our cash flows. The output at our refineries is impacted by such factors as operating efficiency, maintenance turnarounds, market conditions, feedstock availability and weather conditions. We actively manage the operations of our refineries and, typically, any variability in their operations has not been as significant to cash flows as that caused by margins and prices.

Our operating cash flows are also impacted by distribution decisions made by our equity affiliates, including DCP Midstream, CPChem and WRB. During the first six months of 2015, cash from operations included dividends of \$1,188 million from our equity affiliates, compared with \$1,921 million during the same period of 2014.

During the second quarter of 2015, CPChem made a special distribution to its owners, with our share totaling \$696 million. CPChem funded the distribution by issuing \$1.4 billion of senior notes with maturities ranging from three to five years, with a combination of fixed and variable interest rates. This cash inflow from CPChem was included in operating cash flows, as we had cumulative undistributed equity earnings attributable to CPChem in excess of the amount distributed. Operating cash flows for the first six months of 2014 included a special distribution from WRB of \$760 million.

Due to the low commodity price environment, DCP Midstream did not make cash distributions during the first six months of 2015, and we do not expect distributions from DCP Midstream for the remainder of 2015.

We cannot control the amount of future dividends from equity affiliates; therefore, future dividend payments by these companies are not assured.

#### Contributions to Phillips 66 Partners LP

Effective March 2, 2015, we contributed to Phillips 66 Partners our equity interests in Explorer Pipeline Company (19.5 percent), DCP Sand Hills Pipeline, LLC (33.3 percent), and DCP Southern Hills Pipeline, LLC (33.3 percent) for total consideration of \$1,010 million. Each of these investments is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Phillips 66 Partners financed the acquisition with \$880 million in cash, partially funded by a public offering of common units representing limited partner interests and debt financing, and the issuance to us of 1,587,376 and 139,538 additional common units and general partner units, respectively, with an aggregate fair value of \$130 million. See Note 9—Debt and Note 20—Phillips 66 Partners LP, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information.

## Credit Facilities and Commercial Paper

As of June 30, 2015, no amount had been drawn under our \$5 billion credit facility; however, \$51 million in letters of credit had been issued that were supported by this facility. As of June 30, 2015, no amount was outstanding under the \$500 million revolving credit agreement of Phillips 66 Partners.

We have a \$5 billion commercial paper program for short-term working capital needs. Commercial paper maturities are generally limited to 90 days. As of June 30, 2015, we had no borrowings under our commercial paper program.

#### Phillips 66 Partners LP Debt and Equity Financing

In February 2015, Phillips 66 Partners issued \$1.1 billion of debt consisting of:

- \$300 million aggregate principal amount of 2.646% Senior Notes due 2020.
- \$500 million aggregate principal amount of 3.605% Senior Notes due 2025.
- \$300 million aggregate principal amount of 4.680% Senior Notes due 2045.

Interest on each series of the senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears.

In February 2015, Phillips 66 Partners completed a public offering of 5,250,000 common units representing limited partner interests. The net proceeds at closing were \$384 million.

Phillips 66 Partners used a portion of the net proceeds of both the debt and equity offerings to fund its acquisition transaction described above. See Note 20—Phillips 66 Partners LP, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information on this acquisition.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Shelf Registration**

We have a universal shelf registration statement on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under which we, as a well-known seasoned issuer, have the ability to issue and sell an indeterminate amount of various types of debt and equity securities.

#### Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In April 2012, in connection with our separation from ConocoPhillips, we entered into an agreement to guarantee 100 percent of certain outstanding debt obligations of Merey Sweeny, L.P. (MSLP). At June 30, 2015, the aggregate principal amount of MSLP debt guaranteed by us was \$173 million.

For additional information about guarantees, see Note 10—Guarantees, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

#### Capital Requirements

For information about our capital expenditures and investments, see the "Capital Spending" section.

Our debt balance at June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014, was \$9.0 billion and \$8.7 billion, respectively. Our debt-to-capital ratio was 28 percent at both June 30, 2015, and December 31, 2014. Excluding Phillips 66 Partners' debt of \$1.1 billion at June 30, 2015, and its noncontrolling interest in our total equity of \$802 million, our adjusted debt-to-capital ratio at June 30, 2015, was 26 percent. Our target adjusted debt-to-capital ratio excluding the impact of Phillips 66 Partners is 20-to-30 percent.

On May 6, 2015, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.56 per common share, which represented a 12 percent increase from the previous quarter. The dividend was paid on June 1, 2015, to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 18, 2015. On July 8, 2015, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.56 per common share. The dividend is payable on September 1, 2015, to shareholders of record at the close of business on August 17, 2015. We are forecasting a further double-digit dividend rate increase in 2016.

During the second half of 2013, we entered into a construction agency agreement and an operating lease agreement with a financial institution for the construction of our new headquarters facility in Houston, Texas. Under the construction agency agreement, we act as construction agent for the financial institution over a construction period of up to three years and eight months, during which time we request cash draws from the financial institution to fund construction costs. Through June 30, 2015, approximately \$359 million had been drawn to fund construction costs, of which approximately \$326 million is recourse to us should certain events of default occur. The operating lease becomes effective after construction is substantially complete and we are able to occupy the facility. The operating lease has a term of five years and provides us the option, at the end of the lease term, to request to renew the lease, purchase the facility, or assist the financial institution in marketing it for resale.

Since July 2012, our Board of Directors has authorized repurchases of our outstanding common stock totaling up to \$7 billion. The share repurchases have been and are expected to be funded primarily through available cash. During the second quarter of 2015, we repurchased 4,195,639 shares at a cost of \$334 million. Since the inception of our share repurchases in 2012, through June 30, 2015, we have repurchased a total of 83,066,134 shares at a cost of \$5,617 million. Shares of stock repurchased are held as treasury shares.

During the first half of 2015, we contributed \$50 million to our U.S. benefit plans and \$39 million to our international benefit plans. We currently expect to make additional contributions of approximately \$180 million to our U.S. benefit plans and \$20 million to our international benefit plans during the remainder of 2015.

On May 1, 2015, the U.S. Department of Transportation issued a final rule focused on the safe transportation of flammable liquids by rail. The final rule, which is being challenged, subjects new and existing railcars transporting crude oil in high volumes to heightened design standards, including thicker tank walls and heat shields, improved pressure relief valves, and enhanced braking systems. We are currently evaluating the impact of the new regulations on our owned and leased crude oil railcar fleet.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Capital Spending**

	Millions of Dollars		
	Six Months Ended		
	June 30		
	2015	2014	
Capital Expenditures and Investments			
Midstream	\$1,668	586	
Chemicals	_		
Refining	542	401	
Marketing and Specialties	54	110	
Corporate and Other	30	36	
Total consolidated from continuing operations	\$2,294	1,133	
Calastad Faulty Affiliates*			
Selected Equity Affiliates*	<b>#206</b>	254	
DCP Midstream	\$306	354	
CPChem	516	379	
WRB	71	61	
	\$893	794	

<sup>\*</sup> Our share of capital spending, which is self-funded by the equity affiliate.

#### Midstream

During the first six months of 2015, DCP Midstream had a self-funded capital program, and thus required no new capital infusions from us or our co-venturer. During this period, on a 100 percent basis, DCP Midstream's capital expenditures and investments were approximately \$611 million, primarily for construction activities related to the Zia II, Lucerne 2 and National Helium plants and the Keathley Canyon Connector gas gathering pipeline system, which was placed into service in February 2015, and additional investments in the Sand Hills Pipeline joint venture.

During the first six months of 2015, capital spending in our Midstream segment included construction activities related to our Sweeny Fractionator One and Freeport Liquid Petroleum Gas Export Terminal projects and spending associated with return, reliability and maintenance projects in our Transportation and NGL businesses. In addition to our Sweeny Fractionator One and Freeport Liquid Petroleum Gas Export Terminal projects, our major construction activities in progress include the development by two of our joint ventures of the Dakota Access Pipeline (DAPL) and Energy Transfer Crude Oil Pipeline (ETCOP). We own a 25 percent interest in each joint venture, with our co-venturer holding the remaining 75 percent interest and acting as operator of both the DAPL and ETCOP systems.

In April 2015, Rockies Express Pipeline LLC (REX) repaid \$450 million of its debt, reducing its long-term debt to approximately \$2.6 billion. REX funded the repayment through member cash contributions. Our 25 percent share was approximately \$112 million, which we contributed to REX in April 2015.

## Chemicals

During the first six months of 2015, CPChem had a self-funded capital program, and thus required no new capital infusions from us or our co-venturer. During this period, on a 100 percent basis, CPChem's capital expenditures and investments were \$1,031 million, primarily for its U.S. Gulf Coast Petrochemicals Project. We currently expect CPChem's capital program to remain self-funding through 2015.

#### Refining

Capital spending for the Refining segment during the first six months of 2015 was primarily for air emission reduction projects to meet new environmental standards, refinery upgrade projects to increase accessibility of advantaged crudes and improve product yields, improvements to the operating integrity of key processing units and safety-related projects.

#### **Table of Contents**

Major construction activities in progress include:

Installation of a crude tank to increase accessibility of waterborne crude at the Los Angeles Refinery.

Installation of facilities to comply with U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Tier 3 Gasoline regulations at the Sweeny and Alliance refineries.

Generally, our equity affiliates in the Refining segment are intended to have self-funding capital programs.

## Marketing and Specialties

Capital spending for the M&S segment during the first six months of 2015 was primarily for reliability and maintenance projects and projects targeted at growing our international marketing business.

### Contingencies

A number of lawsuits involving a variety of claims that arose in the ordinary course of business have been filed against us or are subject to indemnifications provided by us. We also may be required to remove or mitigate the effects on the environment of the placement, storage, disposal or release of certain chemical, mineral and petroleum substances at various active and inactive sites. We regularly assess the need for accounting recognition or disclosure of these contingencies. In the case of all known contingencies (other than those related to income taxes), we accrue a liability when the loss is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. If a range of amounts can be reasonably estimated and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, then the minimum of the range is accrued. We do not reduce these liabilities for potential insurance or third-party recoveries. If applicable, we accrue receivables for probable insurance or other third-party recoveries. In the case of income-tax-related contingencies, we use a cumulative probability-weighted loss accrual in cases where sustaining a tax position is less than certain.

Based on currently available information, we believe it is remote that future costs related to known contingent liability exposures will exceed current accruals by an amount that would have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial statements. As we learn new facts concerning contingencies, we reassess our position both with respect to accrued liabilities and other potential exposures. Estimates particularly sensitive to future changes include contingent liabilities recorded for environmental remediation, tax and legal matters. Estimated future environmental remediation costs are subject to change due to such factors as the uncertain magnitude of cleanup costs, the unknown time and extent of such remedial actions that may be required, and the determination of our liability in proportion to that of other potentially responsible parties. Estimated future costs related to tax and legal matters are subject to change as events evolve and as additional information becomes available during the administrative and litigation processes.

#### Legal and Tax Matters

Our legal and tax matters are handled by our legal and tax organizations. These organizations apply their knowledge, experience and professional judgment to the specific characteristics of our cases and uncertain tax positions. We employ a litigation management process to manage and monitor the legal proceedings against us. Our process facilitates the early evaluation and quantification of potential exposures in individual cases and enables the tracking of those cases that have been scheduled for trial and/or mediation. Based on professional judgment and experience in using these litigation management tools and available information about current developments in all our cases, our legal organization regularly assesses the adequacy of current accruals and determines if adjustment of existing accruals, or establishment of new accruals, is required. In the case of income-tax-related contingencies, we monitor tax legislation and court decisions, the status of tax audits and the statute of limitations within which a taxing authority can assert a liability.

#### Environmental

We are subject to the same numerous international, federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations as other companies in our industry. For a discussion of the most significant of these environmental laws and regulations, including those with associated remediation obligations, see the "Environmental" section in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on pages 55, 56, 57 and 58 of our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

From time to time, we receive requests for information or notices of potential liability from the EPA and state environmental agencies alleging that we are a potentially responsible party under the Federal Comprehensive

#### **Table of Contents**

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) or an equivalent state statute. On occasion, we also have been made a party to cost recovery litigation by those agencies or by private parties. These requests, notices and lawsuits assert potential liability for remediation costs at various sites that typically are not owned by us, but allegedly contain wastes attributable to our past operations. As of December 31, 2014, we reported that we had been notified of potential liability under CERCLA and comparable state laws at 34 sites within the United States. During the first six months of 2015, we were notified of two new sites and settled and closed one site, leaving 35 unresolved sites with potential liability at June 30, 2015.

At June 30, 2015, our total environmental accrual was \$469 million, compared with \$496 million at December 31, 2014. We expect to incur a substantial amount of these expenditures within the next 30 years. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, and as with other companies engaged in similar businesses, environmental costs and liabilities are inherent concerns in our operations and products, and there can be no assurance that material costs and liabilities will not be incurred. However, we currently do not expect any material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial position as a result of compliance with current environmental laws and regulations.

#### Climate Change

There has been a broad range of proposed or promulgated state, national and international laws focusing on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reduction, including various regulations proposed or issued by the EPA. These proposed or promulgated laws apply or could apply in states and/or countries where we have interests or may have interests in the future. We consider and take into account future GHG emissions in designing and developing major facilities and projects, and implement energy efficiency initiatives to reduce such emissions. Laws in this field continue to evolve, and while it is not possible to accurately estimate either a timetable for implementation or our future compliance costs relating to implementation, such laws, if enacted, potentially could have a material impact on our results of operations and financial condition as a result of increasing costs of compliance, lengthening project implementation and agency review times, or reducing demand for certain hydrocarbon products. We continue to monitor legislative and regulatory actions and legal proceedings globally relating to GHG emissions for potential impacts on our operations.

For examples of legislation and regulation or precursors for possible regulation that do or could affect our operations, see the "Climate Change" section in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on pages 58 and 59 of our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

## **NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS**

In April 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2015-03, "Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) - Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs." This ASU requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. ASU 2015-03 is effective for annual and quarterly reporting periods of public entities beginning after December 15, 2015, applied on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. We currently have debt issuance costs included as deferred charges in our balance sheet, which will be reclassified as a reduction of debt when we adopt ASU 2015-03. At June 30, 2015, this amount was \$56 million.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." The new standard converged guidance on recognizing revenues in contracts with customers under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and International Financial Reporting Standards. This ASU is intended to improve comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual and quarterly reporting periods of public entities beginning after December 15,

2016. At its July 8, 2015, meeting, the FASB voted to delay implementation by one year. Pending the issuance of a final ASU, the standard will be effective for annual and quarterly reporting periods of public entities beginning after December 15, 2017. We are currently evaluating the provisions of ASU 2014-09 and assessing the impact, if any, it may have on our financial position and results of operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

# CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE "SAFE HARBOR" PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify our forward-looking statements by the words "anticipate," "estimate," "believe," "budget," "continue," "could," "intend," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "seek," "sho "expect," "objective," "projection," "forecast," "goal," "guidance," "outlook," "effort," "target" and similar expressions.

We based the forward-looking statements on our current expectations, estimates and projections about us and the industries in which we operate in general. We caution you these statements are not guarantees of future performance as they involve assumptions that, while made in good faith, may prove to be incorrect, and involve risks and uncertainties we cannot predict. In addition, we based many of these forward-looking statements on assumptions about future events that may prove to be inaccurate. Accordingly, our actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what we have expressed or forecast in the forward-looking statements. Any differences could result from a variety of factors, including the following:

Fluctuations in NGL, crude oil and natural gas prices and petrochemical and refining margins.

Failure of new products and services to achieve market acceptance.

Unexpected changes in costs or technical requirements for constructing, modifying or operating our facilities or transporting our products.

Unexpected technological or commercial difficulties in manufacturing, refining or transporting our products, including chemicals products.

Lack of, or disruptions in, adequate and reliable transportation for our NGL, crude oil, natural gas and refined products.

The level and success of drilling and quality of production volumes around DCP Midstream's assets and its ability to connect supplies to its gathering and processing systems, residue gas and NGL infrastructure.

• Inability to timely obtain or maintain permits, including those necessary for capital projects; comply with government regulations; or make capital expenditures required to maintain compliance.

Failure to complete definitive agreements and feasibility studies for, and to timely complete construction of, announced and future capital projects.

Potential disruption or interruption of our operations due to accidents, weather events, civil unrest, political events, terrorism or cyber attacks.

International monetary conditions and exchange controls.

Substantial investment or reduced demand for products as a result of existing or future environmental rules and regulations.

Liability resulting from litigation or for remedial actions, including removal and reclamation obligations under environmental regulations.

General domestic and international economic and political developments including: armed hostilities; expropriation of assets; changes in governmental policies relating to NGL, crude oil, natural gas or refined product pricing, regulation or taxation; and other political, economic or diplomatic developments.

Changes in tax, environmental and other laws and regulations (including alternative energy mandates) applicable to our business.

Limited access to capital or significantly higher cost of capital related to changes to our credit profile or illiquidity or uncertainty in the domestic or international financial markets.

The operation, financing and distribution decisions of our joint ventures.

Domestic and foreign supplies of crude oil and other feedstocks.

Domestic and foreign supplies of petrochemicals and refined products, such as gasoline, diesel, aviation fuel and home heating oil.

Governmental policies relating to exports of crude oil and natural gas.

Overcapacity or undercapacity in the midstream, chemicals and refining industries.

Fluctuations in consumer demand for refined products.

The factors generally described in Item 1A.—Risk Factors in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### **Table of Contents**

## Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks at June 30, 2015, do not differ materially from the risks discussed under Item 7A in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

## Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As of June 30, 2015, with the participation of management, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer carried out an evaluation, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) of the Act, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Act). Based upon that evaluation, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were operating effectively as of June 30, 2015.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Act, in the quarterly period ended June 30, 2015, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

#### Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The following is a description of reportable legal proceedings, including those involving governmental authorities under federal, state and local laws regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, for this reporting period. There were two new matters that arose during the second quarter of 2015. No material developments occurred with respect to matters previously reported in our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K or our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2015. While it is not possible to accurately predict the final outcome of these pending proceedings, if any one or more of such proceedings were decided adversely to Phillips 66, we expect there would be no material effect on our consolidated financial position. Nevertheless, such proceedings are reported pursuant to the SEC regulations.

Our U.S. refineries are implementing two separate consent decrees, regarding alleged violations of the Federal Clean Air Act, with the EPA, six states and one local air pollution agency. Some of the requirements and limitations contained in the decrees provide for stipulated penalties for violations. Stipulated penalties under the decrees are not automatic, but must be requested by one of the agency signatories. As part of periodic reports under the decrees or other reports required by permits or regulations, we occasionally report matters that could be subject to a request for stipulated penalties. If a specific request for stipulated penalties meeting the reporting threshold set forth in SEC rules is made pursuant to these decrees based on a given reported exceedance, we will separately report that matter and the amount of the proposed penalty.

#### New Matters

On May 26, 2015, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (Bay Area AQMD) issued a \$147,000 demand to settle 13 Notices of Violation (NOVs) issued in 2012 and 2013 with respect to alleged violations of regulatory and/or permit requirements at the Rodeo Refinery. We are working with the Bay Area AQMD to resolve this matter.

The EPA issued an NOV alleging a violation of hazardous air pollution regulations at the WRB Wood River Refinery during 2014. We are working with the EPA to resolve this NOV.

## Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in Item 1A of our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

## **Table of Contents**

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased*	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs**	Millions of Dollars Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs
April 1-30, 2015	1,140,445	\$78.94	1,140,445	\$1,627
May 1-31, 2015	1,314,004	80.69	1,314,004	1,520
June 1-30, 2015	1,741,190	78.70	1,741,190	1,383
Total	4,195,639	\$79.39	4,195,639	

<sup>\*</sup> Includes repurchase of shares of common stock from company employees in connection with the company's broad-based employee incentive plans, when applicable.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Since July 2012, our Board of Directors has authorized repurchases totaling up to \$7 billion of our outstanding common stock. The share repurchases have been and are expected to be funded primarily through available cash. Under these authorizations, the shares will be repurchased from time to time in the open market at the company's discretion, subject to market conditions and other factors, and in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. We are not obligated to acquire any particular amount of common stock and may commence, suspend or discontinue purchases at any time or from time to time without prior notice. Shares of stock repurchased are held as treasury shares.

## Table of Contents

## Item 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
12	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
32	Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH	XBRL Schema Document.
101.CAL	XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	XBRL Labels Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.

## Table of Contents

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

## PHILLIPS 66

/s/ Chukwuemeka A. Oyolu Chukwuemeka A. Oyolu Vice President and Controller (Chief Accounting and Duly Authorized Officer)

July 31, 2015